
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel A

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on 

Monday 18 January 2016

Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman) Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor S H Brown (Vice-Chairman) Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor L A Canham Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor M I Peters
Councillor B Garden Councillor B E Read
Councillor J S Hawkes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor B K Kaini Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor M B Kelly Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor R Lees Councillor D Swinerd

Cabinet
A meeting of the above will be held on 

Thursday 21 January 2016

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman)

Councillor C J Shippam 
(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE

Councillor P F Coleman Councillor K M Kelly Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET ADVISORY PANEL A 
Monday 18 January 2016

CABINET
Thursday 21 January 2016

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 3 December 
2015 (Pages 1 - 10)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 18 
January 2016 
To follow 

6. References from Committees 
None at this stage. 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations

7. Review of Local Air Quality Management - Changes to Guidance 
and Reporting (Pages 11 - 30)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. Defra are carrying out the final stage in a three part 
consultation covering a review of Local Air Quality 
Management (LAQM) delivery in England. 

2. The report sets out the Council’s view on the proposed 
changes and a response to the consultation which is contained 
in Appendix A to the report.



3. Defra’s review of Local Air Quality Management provides an 
ideal opportunity for Dartford to restate its approach to LAQM 
and produce a new action plan in accordance with the 
proposed Defra changes.

 
Recommendations:

1. That Members agree the consultation response to Defra as 
detailed in Appendix A to the report.

2. That an awareness campaign and public consultation on Air 
Quality be undertaken to assist in the production of a new air 
quality action plan for Dartford. 

8. Consultation on Proposed Changes to National Planning Policy 
(Pages 31 - 46)

SD (ES)

Summary:

The government is consulting on changes to national planning 
policy, which include a range of measures aimed at improving 
housing delivery and amending the definition of affordable 
housing.  It is proposed to submit the Council’s comments 
alongside a joint Thames Gateway Kent Partnership (TGKP) 
response.

Recommendations:

1. That the Council responds to the consultation in the manner 
set out in Appendix A to the report.

2. That the joint TGKP response (provided at Appendix B to the 
report as a draft), once finalised and agreed by the TGKP 
Board, be submitted alongside the Council’s response. 

9. Consultation on River Crossings in East London (Pages 47 - 54) SD (ES)
Summary:

Transport for London is carrying out further consultation on 
proposals for river crossings at Gallions Reach and Belvedere 
in East London.  This report sets out relevant issues for the 
Council to consider at this stage and proposes a response.

Recommendations:

1. That the impact of the proposals for new river crossings in 
East London, as set out in the report, be noted.

2. That a response to the consultation be sent to Transport for 



London, based on the emboldened text in paragraphs 4.2, 4.4, 
4.5, 4.10, 4.11 and 4.12 of the report. 

10. Parking Consultation: Heath, Stone and Town Wards (Pages 55 - 
60)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. Some of the residents of Heath, Stone and Town wards 
reported numerous and increasing parking related issues, 
mainly as a result of rail-heading. The Council has 
undertaken a number of consultations on proposals for 
managing the reported issues.

2. This report summarises the results of the consultation 
undertaken from 5th to 30th November 2015.

Recommendations:

1. That the completion of the traffic regulation order in 
accordance with paragraph 3.7 of the report and the 
implementation of the schemes be approved.

2. That households within the consultation areas be informed of 
the consultation outcome and the applicable installations. 

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports

11. Management of Double Parking and Parking at Dropped Kerbs 
(Pages 61 - 66)

SD (ES)

Summary:

Kent County Council (KCC) adopted formal powers to enforce 
against ‘double parking’ and ‘parking at dropped kerbs’ under 
the Traffic Management Act 2004. KCC’s Parking Manager 
was granted approval in March 2011 for each district to 
commence enforcement of dropped kerbs and double parking. 
This report seeks approval to commence the enforcement of 
the same within the Borough of Dartford.

Recommendations:

1. That the powers to enforce against ‘double parking’ and 
‘parking at dropped kerbs’, with the exception of private 
driveways, be adopted by Dartford Borough Council.

2. That the public be advised of the newly adopted enforcement 
using various media. 



12. Health Inequalities Action Plan 2016 - 2018 (Pages 67 - 118) SD (ES)
Summary:

The purpose of this report is to seek adoption of Dartford’s 
Health Inequalities Action Plan 2016 – 2018 following its 
consideration by the Policy Overview Committee on 15 
December 2015.

Recommendation:

That the Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Action Plan 
2016 – 2018 be adopted. 

13. Street Naming and Numbering - Mill Pond Site and Parcels 29 & 
31 The Bridge (Pages 119 - 126)

SD (IS)

Summary:

1. To approve four new road names for the development at the 
former GSK Mill Pond site.

2. To approve four new road names for the development of 
Parcels 29 & 31 at The Bridge.

Recommendations:

1. That Cabinet approve the new road names for the 
development at the former GSK Mill Pond as Augustin, 
Oldfield, William Mundy and James Smith.

2. That Cabinet approve the new road names for the 
development of Parcels 29 & 31 The Bridge as Henry, 
Hopkins, Jennings and Mitman. 

C - Items for Information, noting, endorsing

No items for consideration.

Exclusion of the Press and Public

TO RESOLVE: That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended), the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information.



D - Items for Consideration in Private

A. Stone Lodge - Injurious Affectation Claim and Consultancy Fees
(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3) (Pages 127 
- 128)

SD (IS)

Summary:

To seek agreement to the contractual payment of the 
consultant’s fees in relation to completed work and to 
recommend the delegation of decisions relating to other 
aspects of an ongoing injurious affectation claim.

Recommendations:

1. That the contractual consultancy fee referred to in para. 3.3 of 
the report, be paid to the named consultant.

2. That the Managing Director be granted delegated authority to 
negotiate with and agree the amount of compensation payable 
to the Council by the power line company named at para. 3.5 
of the report.   

3. That the Managing Director be granted delegated authority to 
pay the contractual consultancy fee to the named consultant, 
as and when compensation for injurious affectation is agreed 
with the power line company named at para. 3.5 of the report. 





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 3 December 2015 at 7.00 
pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor A R Lloyd

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor D J Mote (Lead Member)

67. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors K M Kelly and Mrs P A 
Thurlow.

68. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

69. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 22 
OCTOBER 2015 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 22 October 2015 be 
confirmed.

70. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

71. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 30 NOVEMBER 2015 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 30 
November 2015 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

72. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other Committees.

73. ADOPTION OF DRAFT GAMBLING POLICY - JANUARY 2016 TO 
JANUARY 2019 

This report asked Cabinet to refer the draft Gambling Policy to the General 
Assembly of the Council for adoption.



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 DECEMBER 2015

2

The Strategic Director (External Services) advised that no responses had 
been received during the consultation process and that no changes had 
therefore been made to the version of the Policy that had previously been 
considered by Cabinet at their 10 September meeting. She also drew 
Members’ attention to the letter that had now been sent twice to the 
Gambling Commission highlighting concerns that had been raised when the 
Policy had previously been considered and said that they were still waiting 
for a response. She then noted that the Senior Licensing Officer was due to 
attend a related Kent wide meeting and would personally pass a further 
copy to the representative from the Gambling Commission who was due to 
attend.

Members asked that the Gambling Commission’s failure to respond be 
escalated further if no response is received following delivery of the third 
letter.

RESOLVED:

1. That the fact that no responses were received to the consultation on 
the draft Gambling Policy be noted.

2. That the draft Gambling Policy, attached at Appendix A to the report, 
be recommended to the General Assembly of the Council for 
adoption.

3. That the request to the Gambling Commission relating to the Council’s 
concern with the enforcement regime for operating licenses, attached 
at Appendix B to the report, be noted

74. REFRESHING THE POLICE AND CRIME PLAN FOR 2016/17 - A 
CONSULTATION 

This report brought a consultation issued by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) for Kent regarding her Police and Crime Plan to 
Members’ attention, and proposed a response for Members’ consideration 
and agreement.

The Strategic Director (External Services) referred to the discussion that 
had taken place at the Cabinet Advisory Panel relating to the powers 
available to PCSOs and the fact that they can differ between police forces 
and said that this was something that was controlled by the Chief Constable 
and not the Police and Crime Commissioner. She then noted how the 
response expressed concern at the reducing number of PCSOs, and also 
highlighted how Kent Police should aim to achieve better back office 
collaboration with the Metropolitan and Sussex Police Forces, in a similar 
way to that already achieved with Essex Police, which would allow the 
release of more resources to the front line.

It was then noted how some people who live near the boundary of the 
Borough get put through to the Metropolitan Police instead of Kent Police 



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 DECEMBER 2015

3

when using the 101 police non-emergency number and suggested that 
enhanced collaboration between these police forces would help to rectify the 
confusion that can be caused.

Members referred to the suggested involvement of the Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Committee when consultation responses are being 
prepared but didn’t feel that meeting schedules could be changed as the 
timings of such consultations were unpredictable. It was therefore 
suggested and agreed that the Chairman of the Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Committee, together with Group Leaders, be 
invited to comment on related consultations as they arise and make their 
representations back to Cabinet.

Members then discussed the response to the third consultation question and 
were advised by the Strategic Director (External Services) that the wording 
in the report had been prepared before the Government’s Spending Review 
announcement which related to the protection of the current funding levels 
that are provided to the police. Members referred to the associated points 
that had been raised at the Cabinet Advisory Panel and, having recognised 
the increased pressures and demands being placed on the police, wished to 
ask that any increase in the police precept element of council tax be kept as 
low as possible. Members also referred to the back office efficiency savings 
that Dartford Council had itself made in order to avoid having to raise 
council tax and suggested that the police also be encouraged to investigate 
efficiency improvements to their back office. Having agreed the focus of the 
response to the third question Members agreed that the final wording be 
delegated to the Strategic Director (External Services) in consultation with 
the Leader of the Council.

RESOLVED:

1. That the proposed response to the first two questions in the Police 
and Crime Commissioner’s consultation regarding the Police and 
Crime Plan for 2016/17, as attached at Appendix B to the report, be 
agreed.

2. That the wording of the response to the third question in the Police 
and Crime Commissioner’s consultation regarding the Police and 
Crime Plan for 2016/17 be based on the views raised and agreed in 
the above minute and delegated to the Strategic Director (External 
Services) to prepare in consultation with the Leader of the Council.

75. DELEGATIONS IN RESPECT OF LITTER AND DOG FOULING 
ENFORCEMENT 

The report sought delegated authority for the Strategic Director (External     
Services) to authorise external enforcement officers to issue Fixed Penalty     
Notices on behalf of the Council, and also to waive Fixed Penalty Notices in 
extenuating circumstances.



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 DECEMBER 2015

4

In response to a question the Strategic Director (External Services) 
confirmed that the authority to waive Fixed Penalty Notices was to be 
granted to her and not the operational manager. She said that challenges 
received from residents would be handled in the same way as those that are 
received for Penalty Charge Notices that are currently being issued.

Members referred to the working hours specified in the Kingdom Security 
Limited Service Specification and were reassured by the Strategic Director 
(External Services) that, having specified that enforcement officers were not 
to be patrolling in the High Street when Dartford’s markets are operating, 
sufficient flexibility had been built in to ensure that the night-time economy 
and Saturdays are enforced. She also noted that the service would start 
operating with 4 enforcement officers but said that this number might be 
reduced if an associated reduction in littering is achieved.

RESOLVED:

1. That, the Strategic Director (External Services) be granted delegated 
authority to authorise, pursuant to Section 88(10)(b) and (c) of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended),  enforcement 
officers employed by Kingdom Security Limited, to issue Fixed Penalty 
Notices (FPNs) on behalf of the Council, in pursuance of the Service 
Level Agreement attached at Appendix A to the report.

2. That the Strategic Director (External Services) be granted delegated 
authority to waive Fixed Penalty Notices in extenuating 
circumstances.

76. LOCAL SCHEME OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX 2016/17 

This report asked that a recommendation be made to the General Assembly 
of the Council on 14 December 2015 for a local scheme of support for 
council tax to be effective from 1 April 2016.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) explained how the scheme had 
been introduced to replace Council Tax Benefit and was being rolled 
forward from previous years. She noted how it provided protection for 
pensioners and reduced the entitlement for eligible working age claimants 
by 18.5%.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) then referred to the Government’s 
plans for welfare cuts and the impact that this might have on the number of 
claims that are received as more people find themselves eligible for the 
scheme. She said that the scheme needed to remain affordable and advised 
that Kent Local Authorities were commissioning a consultant to review the 
scheme and that the results of the review would be reported back to 
Members, and published for consultation, if the review recommended 
changes to the current scheme.



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 DECEMBER 2015

5

In response to a question relating to the cost of the review exercise the 
Strategic Director (Internal Services) advised that the cost was to be shared 
between all Kent Local Authorities and that the cost to Dartford was 
predicted to be between £3k and £4k.

RESOLVED:

That the General Assembly of the Council be asked to approve the following 
recommendation:

That the Council Tax Support Scheme for 2015/16 be rolled forward 
to 2016/17, with effect from 1 April 2016.

77. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT ORDER APPLICATION FEE 

A Local Development Order (LDO) grants permission for a certain type of 
development and removes the need for a planning application to be 
made. A fee for submitting details of development subject to an LDO is 
required to be set locally.  The report recommended the fee to be charged.

The Head of Regeneration advised that, as a development was coming 
forward for the Castle Hill site, which was covered by an LDO that had 
previously been approved by Cabinet, there was a need to define a 
processing fee for such applications and said that the proposed fee of 
£1000 had been assessed as proportionate and fair for the amount of work 
involved.

The Managing Director questioned whether the same fee would apply to 
larger developments and asked that the ability to make yearly adjustments 
to the fee also be granted. The Head of Regeneration confirmed that a 
range of possible LDO scenarios had been considered when deciding the 
fee to be charged.

Members agreed to delegate authority for yearly fee rises of up to 5% to the 
Managing Director, but asked that larger changes LDO application fees be 
referred back to Cabinet for approval.

RESOLVED:

1. That a fee of £1000 be set for submission of a Pre-Development 
Notification on a Local Development Order.

2. That the Managing Director be granted delegated authority to increase 
the Local Development Order application fee by up to 5% a year.



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 DECEMBER 2015

6

78. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING - CLUBB PITS AND JOYCE GREEN 
LANE CAR PARK 

This report asked Members to approve five new road names for the 
development at Clubb Pits, Darenth Road and a new road name for the 
development at the derelict car park on Joyce Green Lane.

Members endorsed all the road names that had been proposed in the report.

RESOLVED:

1. That Chalk, Clearwater, James Clubb, Riverbank and Quarry be 
approved as the new road names for the development at Clubb Pits.

2. That Ashmore be approved as the new road name for the 
development at the derelict car park in Joyce Green Lane.

79. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY ANNUAL REPORT 1 APRIL 2014 
TO 31 MARCH 2015 

As a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging authority the Council is 
required to publish an annual monitoring report (AMR) for the preceding 
financial year.  CIL Regulations require a variety of information to be 
published. As the Dartford CIL has been operating for a relatively short 
period, a limited amount of information has been provided in the report for 
the period April 2014 to March 2015. This report asked Members to endorse 
the CIL AMR prior to publication.

The Head of Regeneration noted that the reported income to date was quite 
low but said that this was expected to increase as time progressed.

The Chairman referred to the discussion that had taken place at the 
Advisory Panel in relation to local Member involvement when deciding how 
the local element of CIL income should be spent and said that for Parished 
areas it would be for the Parish/Town Council to decide the spending 
strategy and added that although local ward Members could provide advice, 
they could not be involved when the final decision is made on how the 
money should be spent.

The Head of Regeneration advised that the associated guidelines, which 
would describe how decisions relating to the spending of CIL income are to 
be made, had yet to be agreed.

RESOLVED:

That the Council’s Annual Monitoring Report April 1 2014 to 31 March 2015, 
attached at Appendix A to the report, be agreed for publication.



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 DECEMBER 2015

7

80. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2015/16 - PROJECTED OUTTURN AND 
2016/17 BUDGET PROCESS 

This report notified Members of the Projected Outturn on the General Fund 
and the Housing Revenue Account, with the reasons for significant 
variances, and also informed Members of the proposed budget setting 
process for 2016/17.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) noted that the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel had referred to the overspend associated with temporary 
accommodation and said that she had advised that spending in this area 
was difficult to control because the number of people presenting themselves 
as homeless could not be predicted or controlled. Members noted the 
significant improvements that had been made in the amount being spent in 
this area when compared to the figures that were being reported 3 years 
ago.

Members noted that the Cabinet Advisory Panel had suggested that the 
Policy Overview Committee carry out a review of how money is spent to 
address homelessness, but said that they would leave it up to Policy 
Overview Committee members to decide whether they wished to consider 
the issue.

RESOLVED:

1. That the projected outturn position for the General Fund and the 
Housing Revenue Account be noted.

2. That the Managing Director initiates and implements the 2016/17 draft 
budget process, in consultation with the Leader and the Finance 
Portfolio Holder prior to the budget being presented to the General 
Assembly of the Council for approval in February 2016.

81. CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET MONITORING 2015/16 - PROGRESS 
AND PROJECTED OUTTURN 

This report informed Cabinet of the progress to date on the projects which 
make up the approved Capital Budget and reported the latest position on 
capital resources.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) summarised the issues that had 
been raised at the Cabinet Advisory Panel and said that the Fairfield Leisure 
Centre project had not been specifically highlighted because it was running 
to budget. She also noted that reference had been made to the previously 
announced 1% yearly cut in social housing rents for the next 4 years and 
said that she had advised that this had been considered and that the 
Housing Revenue Account Business Plan had been reviewed and measures 
taken to ensure that this would not impact on the Council’s current new build 
plans. She then said that she had also explained how it was hoped that the 
£1.8m shortfall identified for General Fund capital schemes would be 



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 DECEMBER 2015

8

reduced as further capital receipts are received, and how the Cricket Club 
overspend had been caused by the need to carry out unbudgeted work on 
the car park.

Members welcomed the progress being made on the Capital programme.

RESOLVED:

1. That the progress made to date on the 2015/16 Capital Programme 
be noted.

2. That the Capital Prudential Indicators set out in Appendix C to the 
report be noted.

82. CORPORATE PLAN - PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

This report provided the latest set of Corporate Plan performance indicators 
for quarter 2 of 2015-16.

Members noted the issues that had been raised by the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel in relation to the waste recycling indicator and said that the scrutiny 
process was available if Members wished to examine that aspect of service 
performance. Members referred to the good service that was being 
delivered to residents and highlighted the low amounts of waste that 
Dartford sends to landfill sites when compared with other Local Authorities 
who have higher recorded recycling rates.

Members suggested that the amount of waste being sent to land fill might be 
a more appropriate indicator to track because of the negative impact that 
landfill sites have on the environment. It was also suggested that the 
percentage of residents’ bins collected on time should also be tracked as a 
customer satisfaction related indicator.

The Strategic Director (External Services) said that a review of waste 
recycling related indicators could be carried out and advised that, out of the 
5 west Kent Local Authorities, Dartford produced the second lowest kg of 
waste per household and achieved the best dry recycling rate. She also 
noted that other Local Authorities managed to achieve higher recycling rates 
by recycling food waste but said that it would not be possible to consider the 
introduction of food waste recycling in Dartford until the associated contract 
is renewed in 2019.

Members noted that the Cabinet Delivery Team with specific responsibility 
for Waste, Recycling and Household Services would continue to monitor the 
service and identify areas where improvements can be made as the time for 
contract renewal approaches. They also referred to the need to monitor EU 
waste recycling requirements and raise concerns if they are thought to be 
impractical in order to avoid any associated fines that may be imposed on 
those Councils failing to achieve their defined targets.



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 DECEMBER 2015

9

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, attached 
at Appendix A to the report, be noted.

83. MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 
1 SEPTEMBER 2015 

This report presented to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy 
Overview Committee held on 1 September 2015.

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 1 
September 2015 be noted.

The meeting closed at 7.38 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN





CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

REVIEW OF LOCAL AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT – 
CHANGES TO GUIDANCE AND REPORTING

1. Summary

1.1 Defra are carrying out the final stage in a three part consultation covering a 
review of Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) delivery in England. 

1.2 The report sets out the Council’s view on the proposed changes and a response 
to the consultation which is contained in Appendix A.

1.3 Defra’s review of Local Air Quality Management provides an ideal opportunity for 
Dartford to restate its approach to LAQM and produce a new action plan in 
accordance with the proposed Defra changes.

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members agree the consultation response to Defra as detailed in 
Appendix A.

2.2    That an awareness campaign and public consultation on Air Quality be 
undertaken to assist in the production of a new air quality action plan for 
Dartford.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, places a statutory duty on local 
authorities to periodically review and assess the air quality within their 
area. Where it appears that the air quality objectives will not be met by 
the designated target dates, local authorities must declare an Air 
Quality Management (AQMA) and develop action plans in pursuit of 
those objectives.

3.2. Whilst reviews of local air quality management (LAQM) have concluded 
that local authorities are very effective at diagnosing air quality hot 
spots, they are less effective at implementing measures to improve air 
quality and very few Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) have 
ever been able to be revoked.

3.3. Despite measures to improve air quality, the UK like many other 
Member States, is having problems meeting EU Air Quality standards 
particularly for nitrogen dioxide and are subject to EU infraction 
proceedings for breaching the Air Quality Directive with regard to 
nitrogen dioxide exceedance. This exeedance in part is caused by the 
poor abatement performance of euro standards for certain vehicle 
classes and also increased use of diesel by the vehicle fleet.



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

3.4. Defra are carrying out the final stage in a three part consultation 
covering a review of Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) delivery in 
England. 

3.5. The Defra consultation sets out changes to guidance and reporting to 
help local authorities focus on taking action to improve air quality and 
reduce priority pollutants.

3.6. The main changes to the LAQM framework are:

 Introduction of an Annual Status Report (including public facing 
executive summary) to replace Updating and Screening 
Assessments, Detailed Assessments, Further Assessments, 
Progress Reports and Air Quality Action Plan Progress Reports.

 Option for fast-tracking AQMA declaration – to cut down on 
delays and speed up the process for producing action plans.

 Introduction of an Action Plan Template – to reduce burden on 
authorities and ensure greater consistency.

 Removal of requirement to report on four historic pollutants 
which are now under control. 

 PM2.5 role for local authorities – to improve public health with 
regard to the indicator within the Public Health Outcomes 
framework.

 Clarification of roles and responsibilities – guidance now clearer 
about legal obligations and best practice.

 Updating/improving policy and technical guidance – guidance 
now updated and strengthened.

3.7. The proposed responses to the Defra consultation questions are 
included in Appendix A.

3.8. Dartford Borough Council has declared four Air Quality Management 
Areas: A282 Tunnel Approach Road, Town Centre and Approach 
Roads, London Road and the Bean Interchange.

3.9. These AQMAs have been declared predominantly as a result of 
nitrogen dioxide emissions from traffic sources.

3.10. Air Quality actions plans have been produced, however many of the 
measures within the plans have either been implemented or have been 
ruled out due to infeasibility.

3.11. Levels of nitrogen dioxide have not improved in Dartford in line with 
predicted improvements from the time the actions plans were 
produced.



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

3.12. In recent years the evidence associating nitrogen dioxide with health 
effects have strengthened and it is now estimated that the effects of 
nitrogen dioxide on mortality is the equivalent to 23,500 deaths 
annually in the UK.

3.13. It is important for Dartford to have an up to date robust action plan in 
place to try to tackle the issue of nitrogen dioxide pollution. The plan 
will also provide a defence against the threat of the passing down of 
any EU fines under the Localism Act. 

3.14. Defra’s review of Local Air Quality Management provides an ideal 
opportunity for Dartford to reinstate its approach to LAQM and produce 
a new action plan in accordance with the proposed Defra changes.

3.15. The new proposed guidance reinforces the responsibility that County 
Councils have with regard to air quality particularly where traffic is the 
primary cause of air pollution.

3.16. It is proposed that prior to the production of new action plans, a public 
awareness and consultation exercise is carried out to maximise buy in 
from all relevant stakeholders.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

This relates to the corporate plan theme of Environment and Transport.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications Costs can be contained within existing 
budgets

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Consultation Response
Appendix B – Glossary of Terms
Appendix C – Air quality monitoring summary 2014



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted

Review of Local Air Quality 
Management – Changes to 
guidance and reporting

Date /
File Ref

November 
2015  

Report Author

James Fox
(01322) 343250

Section and
Directorate

Env Health 
Srvs

Strategic

Exempt
Information 
Category

N/A



Appendix A

Question 1: Does the Annual Status Report (ASR) template strike the right 
balance between streamlining and robustness of evidence? What else would 
you like to see covered or removed for the ASR template?

The ASR does provide a simplified approach whilst still maintaining a robust 
evidence base, however there should be a specific requirement for transport 
authorities, both County Highways departments and Highways England to submit 
details of actions and measures that fall within their remits.  

Question 2: Does the executive summary provide sufficient information in a 
format to keep the public informed of air quality progress and issues within a 
local authority area? What else would you like to see covered/removed?

There was no section entitled executive summary within the ASR template. The 
section entitled ‘Overview of air quality in our area’ does provide a good format to 
keep the public informed.

Question 3: Do you support the idea of idea of fast-track AQMAs declaration

Yes, however it is not clear that in reality this will provide any real efficiency savings.

Question 4: Do you support the introduction of an AQAP template? If yes, what 
else would you like added or removed?

Yes, the Council supports the introduction of an AQAP template this should be 
accompanied by tools to allow the measures to be quantified. The template will 
provide a consistent approach across authorities which may assist County Councils. 

Question 5: Is the guidance clear that LAs are not required to review and 
assess these four pollutants unless they are aware of any potential new issues 
in their locality?

Yes

Question 6. Do the revised policy and technical guidance documents provide 
local authorities with a framework to help them address PM2.5 

Yes

Question 7. Does the updated Policy Guidance achieve its aim of clarifying the 
roles and responsibilities of District and County Councils.

Whilst the guidance does make the responsibilities clear it does not go far enough in 
requiring any specific actions at County level within a two tier local authority structure. 
The guidance doesn’t confirm the role and responsibility of Highways England. 

Question 8. Do you have any further comments about the revisions to the 
technical or policy guidance that have not been covered elsewhere in this 
consultation.

The Borough of Dartford has two major trunk roads, the M25 (A282) and the A2 
running through its area. The majority of vehicles on these roads begin and end their 
journey outside the Borough and therefore this Council has little or no influence over 
these vehicles. The guidance should define the responsibility of Highways England 
with regard to emissions from these transient vehicles.





Appendix B

Glossary of Terms

Air Quality Management Area

If a Local Authority identifies any locations within its boundary where the Air Quality 
Objectives are not likely to be achieved, it must declare the area as an Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA). The Local Authority is subsequently required to put 
together a plan to improve air quality in that area - a Local Air Quality Action Plan.

Air Quality Objectives and EU limit Values

EU Limit values are legally binding EU parameters that must not be exceeded. Limit 
values are set for individual pollutants and are made up of a concentration value, an 
averaging time over which it is to be measured, the number of exceedances allowed 
per year, if any, and a date by which it must be achieved. Some pollutants have 
more than one limit value covering different endpoints or averaging times.

The UK Government and devolved administrations set Air Quality Strategy 
objectives to reflect the importance they attach to public health and the environment. 
However in determining the appropriate level for these objectives, these 
considerations have been balanced against – amongst other things – social 
implications and economic goals including growth. Local authorities are required to 
work towards the Strategy’s objectives prescribed in regulations for that purpose. 

The air quality objectives in the Air Quality Strategy are a statement of policy 
intentions or policy targets. As such, there is no legal requirement to meet these 
objectives except in as far as these mirror any equivalent legally binding limit values 
in EU legislation. 

Exceedance 

An exceedance is a period of time (defined for each standard) where the 
concentration is higher than that set out in the Standard. In order to make useful 
comparisons between pollutants, (the Standards may be expressed in terms of 
different averaging times), the number of days on which an exceedance has been 
recorded is often reported.

Monitoring

Monitoring is usually termed "automatic" or "continuous" if it produces real-time 
measurements of pollutant concentrations. Automatic fixed point monitoring methods 
exist for a number of pollutants, providing high resolution data averaged over very 
short time periods. BAM, TEOM and FDMS instruments are all automatic monitors.

Passive diffusion tube samplers collect nitrogen dioxide and other pollutants by 
molecular diffusion along an inert tube to an efficient chemical absorbent. After 
exposure for a known time, the absorbent material is chemically analysed and the 
concentration calculated.



Appendix B

Oxides of Nitrogen (NOx)

Combustion processes emit a mixture of nitrogen oxides (NOX), primarily nitric oxide 
(NO) which is quickly oxidised in the atmosphere to nitrogen dioxide (NO2). Nitrogen 
dioxide has a variety of environmental and health impacts. It is a respiratory irritant 
which may exacerbate asthma and possibly increase susceptibility to infections. In 
the presence of sunlight, it reacts with hydrocarbons to produce photochemical 
pollutants such as ozone. NO2 can be further oxidised in air to acidic gases, which 
contribute towards the generation of acid rain.

Ozone (O3) 

Ozone is not emitted directly into the atmosphere, but is a secondary pollutant 
generated following the reaction between nitrogen dioxide (NO2), hydrocarbons and 
sunlight. Whereas nitrogen dioxide acts as a source of ozone, nitric oxide (NO) 
destroys ozone and acts as a local sink (NOX-titration). For this reason, O3 
concentrations are not as high in urban areas (where high levels of NO are emitted 
from vehicles) as in rural areas. Ambient concentrations are usually highest in rural 
areas, particularly in hot, still and sunny weather conditions which give rise to 
summer "smogs".

Particulate Matter (PM)

Airborne PM includes a wide range of particle sizes and different chemical 
constituents. It consists of both primary components, which are emitted directly into 
the atmosphere, and secondary components, which are formed within the 
atmosphere as a result of chemical reactions. Of greatest concern to public health 
are the particles small enough to be inhaled into the deepest parts of the lung. Air 
Quality Objectives are in place for the protection of human health for PM10 and 
PM2.5 particles of less than 10 and 2.5 micrometres in diameter, respectively.



APPENDIX C

Air Quality Monitoring data 2014

Automatic Monitoring Data

Table 1 Results of Automatic Monitoring for Nitrogen Dioxide: Comparison 
with Annual Mean Objective

Figure 1 Trends in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentration Measured at 
Automatic Monitoring Sites. 

Annual mean concentrations (g/m3)

Site ID Location Within 
AQMA? 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Dartford 1 St Clements Way 
Greenhithe

Y 58 69 64 57 54 57 53 61

Dartford 2 Town Centre Y 54 43 45 51 40 42 49 44
Dartford 3 Bean Interchange Y 55 58 58 54 53 54 43 51



APPENDIX C

Table 2 Results of Automatic Monitoring for Nitrogen Dioxide: Comparison 
with 1-hour Mean Objective

Number of Exceedances of hourly
mean (200 g/m3)

Site ID Location
Within 
AQMA

? 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Dartford 1 St Clements Way 
Greenhithe

Y 75 64 34 19 14 28 21 51

Dartford 2 Town Centre Y 7 0 0 2 0 0 16 20
Dartford 3 Bean Interchange Y 16 18 5 3 3 7 0 4

Figure 2 Trends in Nitrogen Dioxide hourly mean exceedances of 200 g/m3 
Measured at Automatic Monitoring Sites. 



APPENDIX C

Table 3 Results of Nitrogen Dioxide Diffusion Tubes 

Annual mean concentrations (g/m3)
Site ID Location

Within 
AQMA

? 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

DA01 Lowfield Street Y 50 49 47 43 36 40 48 47
DA05 Ightham Cottages* Y 55 58 58 53 53 54 59 62
DA07 Summerhouse Drive N 29 27 28 29 27 24 28 26
DA10 London Road Y 51 48 46 45 38 35 44 47
DA14 Bow Arrow Lane Y 68 75 67 61 64 60 64 73
DA16 Princes Road Y 50 49 48 42 43 43 47 54
DA17 Shepherds Lane Y 49 49 47 44 43 41 40 37
DA18 Alkerden Lane N 33 30 29 31 25 24 31 28
DA20 Eliot Road Y 48 48 52 48 48 41 50 57
DA21 Brentfield Road Y 46 39 41 44 38 35 44 44
DA22 Brent Way Y 64 61 65 52 58 53 52 64
DA24 Wayville Road Y 43 41 40 40 37 35 42 45
DA25 Queens Gardens Y 46 44 40 39 38 41 40 42
DA28 Ivy Villas Y 57 55 53 50 - - - -
DA34 The Brent II Y 52 47 46 45 44 43 50 51
DA35 Highfield Road Y 54 55 46 43 45 38 48 49
DA36 Burnham Road Y 41 37 38 39 - - - -
DA37 Watling Street Y 50 40 44 40 - - - -
DA38 London Road Y 45 40 43 43 39 36 44
DA39 Park Road Y 42 43 42 45 40 39 48 48
DA41 Church Hill N 47 48 45 43 41 36 45 47
DA43 Overy Liberty Y 65 66 64 61 57 54 76 72
DA44 Brent Close Y 49 52 47 45 47 44 49 53
DA45 Milestone Road N 39 41 39 37 - - - -
DA47 Westgate Road Y 39 40 39 38 - - - -
DA48 Hawley Road* N - - 42 41 38 42 41
DA49 St Albans Road Y 45 44 44 40 41 38 45 47
DA50 A2/Bridge N 46 44 45 43 43 41 48 46
DA53 Park Swallow Close N 30 27 28 30 25 24 24 24
DA54 King Edward Avenue N 28 30 33 31 27 27 32 31
DA56 Cranford Road N - 35 37 33 30 30 35 31
DA57 Park Road II Y - 42 40 38 - - - -
DA60 Burnham/Priory Road Y - 46 42 40 36 35 41 41
DA61 West Hill 2 Y - 61 52 46 45 45 53 56
DA62 Brent/London Road Y - 60 49 47 49 47 47 54
DA63 Churchill Close Y - - 34 38 36 31 37 38
DA66 Crossways N - - 39 37 37 - - -
DA67 Hill Rise / Darenth N - - - 33 32 29 32 33
DA68 Bow Arrow Lane II N - - - 38 37 34 38 40
DA69 Hawley Road II N - - - 45 40 41 46 47
DA70 Hope Cottages, Bean N - - - 40 34 35 42 38
DA71 Dartford Road Y - - - 36 31 30 35 -
DA72 Little Dale N - - - 41 40 38 50 47
DA73 Wilmington N - - - 28 - - - -
DA75 Ightham Cottages II Y - - - 40 43 43 39 39
DA76 Church Hill II N - - - - 33 - - -



APPENDIX C

DA77 Hawley Road IV N - - - - 38 - - -
DA78 Burnham Road III Y - - - - 38 36 44 46
DA79 Watling Street II Y - - - - 34 34 38 38
DA80 Westgate II Y - - - - 39 39 46 47
DA81 Green St Green Rd N - - - - 40 39 43 46
DA83 Byron Road N - - - - 35 35 41 38
DA84 Brent Way 2 Y - - - - 52 58 56 65
DA85 Mount Pleasant Road N 31 33 37 36
DA86 Brent Close 2 N 38 38 36

No2 Ightham Cotts Y 35 40 47
Rear of Ightham Cotts Y 31 - -

Figure 3 Air quality monitoring trends at locations in the proximity of the A282 
AQMA



APPENDIX C

Figure 4 NO2 monitoring trends at locations around the town centre and approach 
roads AQMA



APPENDIX C

Figure 5 NO2 monitoring trends at locations in the proximity of London Road AQMA



APPENDIX C

Figure 6 NO2 monitoring trends at locations in proximity to the A2 



APPENDIX C

Figure 7 NO2 monitoring trends at background sites 



APPENDIX C

Figure 8 NO2 monitoring trends at other locations



APPENDIX C

PM10

Table 4 Results of PM10 Automatic Monitoring: Comparison with Annual Mean 
Objective

Figure 9 Trends in PM10 annual mean measured at automatic monitoring sites.

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Greenhithe 44 41 41 41 32 38 33 31 28 28 22 24 25
Town 
Centre

32 36 34 37 31 31 26 24 24 27 24 28 24

Bean 
Interchange

25 33 32 30 32 29 26 24 25 24 21 21 27



APPENDIX C

Table 5 Results of PM10 Automatic Monitoring: Comparison with 24-hour Mean 
Objective 50µg/m3 not to be exceeded more than 35 times a year

Figure 10 Trends in PM10 daily mean exceedances of 50 µg/m3 measured at 
automatic monitoring sites.

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Greenhithe 89 89 82 79 35 68 46 27 20 31 8 13 11
Town 
Centre 7 60 48 54 22 30

20 7 5 20 16 22 13

Bean 
Interchange 1 50 35 6 23 25

11 7 4 12 9 5 11





CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

CONSULTATION ON PROPOSED CHANGES TO NATIONAL 
PLANNING POLICY 

1. Summary

1.1 The government is consulting on changes to national planning policy, which 
include a range of measures aimed at improving housing delivery and 
amending the definition of affordable housing.  It is proposed to submit the 
Council’s comments alongside a joint Thames Gateway Kent Partnership 
(TGKP) response.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That the Council responds to the consultation in the manner set out in 
Appendix A to the report.

2.2   That the joint TGKP response (provided at Appendix B as a draft), once 
finalised and agreed by the TGKP Board, be submitted alongside the 
Council’s response.

3. Background 

3.1 The Government is proposing some significant changes to the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), first published in 2012.  The 
consultation is broad and spans a range of topics which aim to improve 
housing delivery and extend the definition of affordable housing so as to 
include a wider range of products to enable affordable home ownership.  
Increased encouragement of Starter Home provision forms a key part of 
the proposals.

3.2 The Thames Gateway Kent Partnership (TGKP) has prepared a draft 
response to the consultation, with input from Council officers (Appendix 
B). The response covers the joint concerns of Thames Gateway Kent 
districts and it is considered that a joint response may carry greater 
weight.  However, the TGKP response will not be finalised and agreed 
until after Cabinet meets. The final document will however be cleared by 
the TGKP Board members, including the Leader of the Council.  It is, 
therefore, recommended that the final version, once agreed, is submitted 
as the Council’s response.

3.3 The issue of small sites and how they are assessed for suitability as 
housing sites is particularly relevant to Dartford.  A Dartford specific 
supplementary report has therefore been prepared (Appendix A). It is 
recommended that these two documents jointly provide the Council’s 
response. 



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

4. Scope of the Consultation

4.1 The consultation document seeks views on the following proposals:

 Amendment of the definition of affordable housing to include a 
fuller range of products to enable access to home ownership.  
This would include products such as discount market sales and 
rent to buy housing.  Some of the products may not be subject to 
‘in perpetuity’ restrictions or recycling of subsidy.

 A requirement for higher density housing development around 
commuter hubs.  A minimum density requirement in national 
policy is not proposed as it is considered this would be unduly 
prescriptive.

 Strengthening of national planning policy to provide more support 
for new settlements or urban extensions.

 Clarity in national planning guidance that housing proposals on 
brownfield sites should be supported unless there are overriding 
conflicts with the Local Plan or the NPPF.  In effect, a 
‘presumption’ in favour of housing development on brownfield 
sites.

 Support in national guidance for development of small sites of 
less than ten units.  In effect, a ‘presumption’ in favour of 
development, as for brownfield sites. Protection against unwanted 
development of back gardens will be retained.

 Amendment of national policy to ensure action is taken where 
there is a significant shortfall between number of homes identified 
in Local Plans and delivery of those homes.  One proposal is for 
introduction of a housing delivery test.  If there is demonstrated 
under-delivery, additional sites would need to be identified and 
there may be a need for a full or partial review of the Local Plan.

 Amendment of national guidance to make clear that unviable or 
underused employment land should be released for ‘starter 
homes’.  Local planning authorities to set a limit on the amount of 
time that commercial or employment land should be protected if 
unused.  Three years is suggested.

 Widening of scope of the starter homes exception policy to 
incorporate other forms of unviable or under-used brownfield land, 
such as former retail, leisure and non-residential institutional 
uses.

 Clearer national policy about the grounds on which development 
under the Starter Homes exception policy can be refused.

 Encouragement of Starter Homes within mixed use commercial 
developments, for example new town centre developments or 
existing town centre regeneration schemes.

 Encouragement of Starter Homes in rural areas.  It is proposed 
that in the case of starter homes on rural exception sites, local 
planning authorities have the flexibility to require a local 
connection test.

 Ability for neighbourhood plans to allocate appropriate small-scale 
sites specifically for housing in the Green Belt.



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

 Change to policy to allow brownfield sites in the Green Belt to be 
developed for Starter homes in the same way as on other 
brownfield sites.  The current NPPF requirement that prevents 
development where there is any additional impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt would be removed.

4.2 The response to these issues is set out in the draft joint response from 
the TGKP authorities at Appendix B.  The cumulative infrastructure and 
neighbourhood implications of the proposed presumption in favour of 
small housing sites is of particular concern to the Council.  These make 
little contribution towards the associated needs that arise for 
community facilities and infrastructure and can have significant impacts 
on local character and amenity.  An additional response on behalf of 
the Council to cover these concerns is provided at Appendix A.  

5. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

5.1 To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to 
all of our communities. 

5.2 To facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, to create 
strong and self- reliant communities and deliver high quality services to 
service users. 

6. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications No implications. 

Legal Implications No implications.

Staffing Implications No implications.

Administrative Implications No implications.

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

7. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

8. Appendices

Appendix A: Dartford Council’s Response to Consultation on Proposed 
Changes to National Planning Policy

Appendix B: TGKP response to DCLG consultation: Proposed 
Changes to National Planning Policy



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Consultation on 
Proposed Changes to 
National Planning Policy, 
DCLG Dec 15

Teresa Ryszkowska 
(01322) 343631

Regeneration, 
Strategic (External 
Services) Directorate

N/A



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

APPENDIX A

Dartford Council’s Response to Consultation on Proposed Changes to 
National Planning Policy

Within the Thames Gateway (TG) Kent area there is a shared ambition for 
major regeneration.  Significant housing delivery as part of a wider mix of 
uses delivering sustainable outcomes, a high quality of development and 
adequate infrastructure to support the new communities is welcomed and 
accords with the government’s own aspirations.  In the context of these 
shared ambitions, Dartford Council submits a joint response with its TG Kent 
partners.   There are, however, issues that are specific to Dartford Council 
and these are additionally addressed below.  

This response relates to the following consultation questions:

Q8 Do you consider that it would be beneficial to strengthen policy on 
the development of small sites? If not why not?

Q10 Do you consider that national planning policy should set out that 
local planning authorities should put in place a specific positive local 
policy for assessing applications for development on small sites not 
allocated in the Local Plan?

The Council’s submission is made in the context of identified housing capacity 
in the Borough which exceeds housing needs by over 30%.  An explicit choice 
has been made through the Local Plan to deliver this housing largely through 
a number of very large sites.  It is acknowledged that housing delivery on 
some of these sites has been slow, particularly in what is now termed the 
Ebbsfleet Garden City, where the high costs of infrastructure provision made 
development risky for private developers.  This has now been addressed 
through substantial funding towards the required infrastructure by government 
and it is expected that delivery levels will escalate.  Housing delivery on large 
sites in the Borough outside the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation area is 
progressing rapidly and delivery is increasing year on year.

In this context, fundamental concerns exist over what is, in effect, a 
‘presumption in favour’ of infilling and expanding settlements through small 
sites. Dartford has developed a clear and effective approach to housing 
delivery, utilising well planned large sites to provide new communities 
supported by infrastructure and this is now reaping dividends. This strategy 
was supported through public consultation on the Local Plan.   It is evident 
through consultations on planning applications that in the Borough there is far 
greater objection to development on small infill sites rather than large sites.  

There is a good understanding in the local community of the comparative 
impacts of these different types of development and a clear rationale for the 
preferred choice.  Small sites will cumulatively impact on all forms of 
community and physical infrastructure which is already stretched in the area 
yet they can contribute little towards new infrastructure.  With most schools 
within the urban area already exceeding capacity, there is a lack of 
opportunity sites for new schools.  Large sites, on the other hand, can provide 



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

APPENDIX A

the land to deliver new schools.  Stretched waste water capacity can be 
readily augmented through underground piping - something not easily 
achieved in already built up areas.  An emphasis on sustainable forms of 
transport in large new developments, such as the dedicated Fastrack bus 
network, high quality walking routes and segregated cycle lanes, can all help 
to encourage non-car journeys, reducing impacts on the over-loaded local and 
strategic road network.  Again, such mitigations cannot be achieved on small 
sites.  Small infill sites can also have significant impacts on local character 
and amenity, intensifying development where space for car parking, waste 
collection facilities etc. is already stretched.

It is recognised that delivery through small sites may be appropriate in certain 
circumstances.  However, this is considered a matter which should rightly be 
determined at a local level, in response to local circumstances and which can 
be tested through public examination of the plan.  A ‘one size fits all’ solution 
is not considered appropriate or effective.  

Implementation of the proposed approach would undermine the support that 
has been achieved in Dartford for high levels of housing delivery and would 
likely result in increased resistance to housing growth. An approach that does 
not have local support is likely to be ineffective in the long term in boosting 
housing supply.  The approach is also less likely to ensure sufficient 
infrastructure is in place to enable the growth, thereby further undermining 
housing delivery and local support for it.  

The proposal that national planning policy should require local planning 
authorities to have a specific local policy in place for determining applications 
for small windfall sites is strongly supported.  However, identifying the 
circumstances in which development on small local sites is sustainable and 
appropriate should be a matter for local rather than national policy.  A national 
policy of this nature should allow for local planning authorities to set criteria 
about what is sustainable in the local context.  A clear criteria-based policy is 
already in place in Dartford.  It is considered that a policy of this nature can 
provide sufficient clarity to developers about which small sites are appropriate 
for development.  On the other hand, a blanket national presumption in favour 
of developing ‘sustainable’ small sites will lead to planning uncertainty, 
appeals and court challenges.  What is ‘sustainable’ in the local context will 
vary from place to place and according to a wide range of variables.  Not least 
of these is the extent of existing alternative sources of housing land supply.  

Dartford Council, therefore, strongly urges that the proposed national policy 
with regard to small sites allows for local discretion, based on a local 
understanding of the most effective and sustainable way of bringing forward 
housing delivery.  Council Officers are willing to provide further information on 
the approach adopted by the Council on windfall sites and how this is applied.



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

APPENDIX B

TGKP RESPONSE TO DCLG CONSULTATION:  PROPOSED CHANGES TO NATIONAL 
PLANNING POLICY

Note: This draft consultation response is work in progress and remains subject to 
agreement by other partners and clearance by the TGKP Board.  This version incorporates 
comments from officers at Dartford Borough Council

[Introductory Paragraph – to follow]

a) AFFORDABLE HOUSING

Q1. Do you have any comments or suggestions about the proposal to amend the 
definition of affordable housing in national planning policy to include a wider range of low 
cost home ownership options?

 TGKP recognises the Government’s aspiration to increase home ownership, and 
supports the principle of increasing the supply and range of house purchase options.  
The overall imbalance in the UK housing market, and particularly the distorted markets 
of London and the South East, is the result of many factors.  But prominent amongst 
these is the slow pace at which developers and housebuilders implement the planning 
permissions they have secured, or failure to implement those permissions at all, which 
means that houses planned for have for decades been delivered in insufficient numbers.  

 The market has not therefore delivered for the many households who would like their 
own home.  Intervention in the market, in the form of Starter Homes and other low cost 
home ownership options, should not be at the expense of households for whom home 
ownership is not feasible.  A fundamental problem with the Government’s proposals is 
that, coupled with other measures in the Housing and Planning Bill, re-definition of 
affordable housing to include a wider range of home ownership products will inevitably 
squeeze out provision of new housing for rent, particularly for social rent, thus 
impacting disproportionately on households with the most restricted range of housing 
options.

 One of the main reasons advanced by developers for stalling housing developments is 
viability, particularly in areas of low land values.  The redefinition of affordable housing 
risks creating more situations where developers negotiate to remove affordable housing 
for rent, particularly social rent, from development schemes on grounds of viability and 
to protect or boost their profit margins.  Amending national planning policy to redefine 
affordable housing needs to be accompanied by suitable measures to ensure robust 
and transparent viability tests.  There also need to be safeguards to ensure that local 
planning authorities can seek provision of affordable rented property where local 
housing needs assessments demonstrate an unmet requirement for additional 
provision.

 The NPPF should make clear that existing ‘in perpetuity’ clauses will not be affected by 
changes to national policy for new developments.

 As explained in more detail in response to Q22, the proportion of affordable housing 



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

APPENDIX B

provided (without grant) through s.106 obligations varies from one area to another and 
even at an aggregate national level is, at 22%, a significant component of affordable 
housing supply.  Broadening the definition of affordable housing, and the implications 
this has for what may be provided through s.106, will therefore impact quite differently 
in different areas.  We suggest DCLG should undertake more careful analysis to 
understand what those impacts may be at a local level.

Q2. Do you have any views on the implications of the proposed change to the 
definition of affordable housing on people with protected characteristics as defined in the 
Equalities Act 2010? What evidence do you have on this matter?

 The redefinition of affordable housing will have a negative impact on the extent to 
which new developments provide for people who are unable to afford home ownership, 
and on future provision of homes at an affordable or social rent.  The number of 
households on council waiting lists remains a strong indicator of the continuing need for 
affordable rented housing – 1.37 million in England at 1 April 2014.  In Kent and 
Medway, the waiting list of nearly 38,000 households was lower than the peak of 2013 
but still 11% above the average of the last 20 years.  There will be a higher proportion of 
vulnerable people in these households than in households generally, for example people 
with a long-term illness or disability and lone parents.  At the same time, local 
authorities in North Kent are experiencing sustained pressure of households presenting 
as homeless, with a 17% increase in acceptances over 2007 levels compared with a 20% 
fall nationally, and 111% increase in total decision compared with a 26% fall nationally1.  
We suggest that the Government needs to consider safeguards to ensure that the mix 
of types of affordable housing delivered by individual schemes is responsive to local 
need and pressures as well as to local aspiration.

b) INCREASING RESIDENTIAL DENSITY AROUND COMMUTER HUBS

Q3. Do you agree with the Government’s definition of commuter hub? If not, what 
changes do you consider are required?

Q4. Do you have any further suggestions for proposals to support higher density 
development around commuter hubs through the planning system?

 Taking these questions together, we would argue that the role and function of transport 
nodes should be considered holistically and not exclusively for their potential to support 
increased housing.  TGKP supports in principle the proposition that areas in the vicinity 
of nodes or hubs that are well served by public transport may successfully support 
higher housing densities.  But areas around transport nodes such as railway stations also 
have potential sustainable commercial and employment uses.  The Government’s 
proposals appear exclusively to focus on potential for additional housing.  This is not 
likely to be the most sustainable approach. There is a clear rationale for office 
development around public transport hubs, where this is a viable use, since public 
transport usage tends to be greater for high density employment uses than for 
residential use.    We suggest that any adjustments to national planning policy should 

1 Analysis of DCLG data taken from P1E returns, Q1 2007 to Q2 2015.



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

APPENDIX B

emphasise the opportunity, subject to supporting infrastructure, to increase both 
housing and employment uses in the vicinity of transport nodes or commuter hubs.

 Additional housing should, of course, be supported by adequate physical and community 
infrastructure, and need good accessibility to healthcare, educational and other 
facilities.

 Non-operational railway land near existing stations may lend itself more appropriately to 
employment or mixed use rather than purely residential.  This should be a matter for 
local determination in the circumstances of each case or site.

Q5. Do you agree that the Government should not introduce a minimum level of 
residential densities in national policy for areas around commuter hubs? If not, why not?

 Past attempts to prescribe housing densities in national guidance have not been 
particularly successful.  We would therefore concur that it could be counter-productive 
to set minimum density requirements.  There would be value, however, in 
promulgation of case studies and other guidance on better practice to show what can 
be achieved through higher density developments at commuter hubs or public 
transport nodes, across a wide range of urban and peri-urban scenarios.

c) SUPPORTING NEW SETTLEMENTS, DEVELOPMENT ON BROWNFIELD LAND AND SMALL SITES, AND DELIVERY 

OF HOUSING AGREED IN LOCAL PLANS

Q6. Do you consider that national planning policy should provide greater policy 
support for new settlements in meeting development needs? If not, why not?

 There will be circumstances where a new settlement provides a sustainable solution to 
the pressures to accommodate population, housing and employment growth.  Such 
decisions will profoundly affect the local area and should be properly considered 
through the Local Plan process.  This does not exclude the possibility of developer-led 
proposals coming forward but for the full implications to be properly considered would 
probably best be addressed through the Plan alteration process.

Q7. Do you consider that it would be beneficial to strengthen policy on development 
of brownfield land for housing? If not, why not and are there any unintended impacts that 
we should take into account?

 The fact that a site may be suitable for redevelopment does not automatically mean that 
any proposal that is put forward for that site would be acceptable.  The proposal for 
granting permission in principle for new homes on suitable sites carries considerable risk 
of unsuitable and poor quality development by-passing normal planning evaluation.

 TGKP is strongly in favour of brownfield land being brought back into productive use: 
this is fundamental to regeneration schemes.  What the most appropriate use is will vary 
according to the circumstances of the case.  There is brownfield land that could be 
equally suitable for housing, commercial or mixed use.  Some brownfield sites may be 
suitable for such uses but also possess other qualities, for example biodiversity, that 
deserve proper consideration. Many areas, and the Thames Gateway is one of them, are 
experiencing a shortage of sites on which it is viable to bring forward good quality 



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

APPENDIX B

commercial premises.  The viability issue is in part a consequence of competition for 
land for residential development.  Paragraph 22 of the consultation paper sets a 
disproportionately high bar for any use other than housing on suitable brownfield sites.  
This could perhaps be moderated to some degree by making clear that “suitable for 
housing” should mean sites that are better suited to housing than any other use; and 
that where sites could be suitable for a range of uses, the presumption in favour of 
housing development would not automatically apply.

 The consultation paper conveys a rather one-dimensional view of what “brownfield 
land” is.  This can range from the plot of a detached house in an urban street, which is 
demolished to be replaced by apartments, to derelict and heavily contaminated former 
industrial land.  It is important that planning authorities be trusted to make 
professionally-informed judgements about future uses for different brownfield sites, 
taking into account location, infrastructure requirements and the preparatory work 
that may be required to bring them into a developable condition, in determining 
whether brownfield sites should be included in a register as suitable for housing.

 The previous Coalition Government consulted on proposals for establishing registers of 
brownfield sites.  It was not clear then and it is not clear now how the preparation and 
maintenance of such registers would be resourced.

Q8. Do you consider that it would be beneficial to strengthen policy on development 
of small sites for housing? If not, why not? How could the change impact on the 
calculation of the local planning authorities’ five-year land supply?

Q9. Do you agree with the Government proposal to define a small site as a site of less 
than 10 units? If not, what other definition do you consider is appropriate, and why?

 The proposals to strengthen national policy in respect of small sites would undermine 
the Local Plan process.  This is the appropriate route for making choices about the most 
sustainable form of housing delivery in the light of local circumstances and housing 
requirements.  In the Thames Gateway, some authorities have made the choice to 
deliver high levels of housing through a number of very large sites which incorporate 
infrastructure needs.  Such carefully considered plans can be undermined by cumulative 
gains to the housing stock through small infill sites, where infrastructure deficiencies 
cannot be so readily addressed.  

 Where development of small sites is appropriate, we request consistency across all 
areas of the planning system and process including issues such as contribution to 
Community Infrastructure Levy schemes, s.106 obligations and affordable housing 
provision.  Cumulatively, small sites may contribute a substantial portion of housing 
supply.  This can be positive and to be welcomed in the right circumstances, but it is 
important that small schemes also make an appropriate contribution towards 
infrastructure requirements so as to avoid a cumulative infrastructure deficit and to 
enable planning authorities and providers (including utilities) to plan for and negotiate 
timely provision. 



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

APPENDIX B

Q10. Do you consider that national planning policy should set out that local planning 
authorities should put in place a specific positive local policy for assessing applications for 
development on small sites not allocated in the Local Plan?

 We would be in favour of national guidance encouraging clear policies in Local Plans 
against which to assess windfall applications.  This would give greater certainty to 
developers as to whether a site is likely to be suitable for development. However, the 
nature of the policy should be determined at the local level in the context of local 
circumstances and housing requirements.

Q11. We would welcome your views on how best to implement the housing delivery 
test, and in particular:

What do you consider should be the baseline against which to monitor delivery of new 
housing?

What should constitute significant under-delivery, and over what time period?

What steps do you think should be taken in response to significant under-delivery?

How do you see this approach working when the housing policies in the Local Plan are not 
up-to-date?

• It is TGKP’s view that the suggested sanctions against planning authorities would be 
counter-productive.  The Government’s declared aim is to accelerate delivery, 
particularly of new housing.  Where schemes have already been consented, the leverage 
available to planning authorities to secure delivery is relatively limited.  Paragraph 29 of 
the consultation document refers to discussions Government is having with 
housebuilders and others about what steps should be taken to drive faster build-out of 
schemes.  We suggest that the Government’s efforts should focus primarily on how to 
boost both the capacity and the performance of the development and construction 
sectors, and look at what additional tools might assist planning and development 
control functions in local authorities to ensure consented schemes progress.

• Identifying additional sites is not necessarily a solution.  If sites are already in sustainable 
locations, well served by infrastructure and with clear prospects of delivery, it would be 
unusual for these not already to be allocated or identified in local plans, unless there are 
other weighty objections to their inclusion.  Besides fulfilling all these tests, there would 
need to be demonstrable and tangible evidence of greater commitment to build out 
such sites to have confidence that these would progress when other consented schemes 
have not.

Q12. What would be the impact of a housing delivery test on development activity?

• It is hard to conclude other than this would divert scarce resources and slow down both 
plan-making and development control activities.  Both would be counter-productive and 
TGKP does not support the idea of a housing delivery test.



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

APPENDIX B

d) SUPPORTING DELIVERY OF STARTER HOMES

Q13. What evidence would you suggest could be used to justify retention of land for 
commercial or similar use? Should there be a fixed time limit on land retention for 
commercial use?

• This part of the Government’s proposals is particularly problematic, notably in the 
context of regeneration.  Regeneration schemes and programmes can take decades to 
be realised in full.  The Thames Gateway initiative is a case in point.  We are about 
twenty years into what could be a 70 year endeavour.  Our goal, and that of 
regeneration schemes more generally, is sustainable economic-led growth – in other 
words, progress in delivering an uplift in skills and attainment, employment and wealth-
generating enterprise as well as new homes and facilities in sustainable communities.  It 
is not unusual for commercial investment to lag behind residential development, 
whether that is commercial developers building speculatively or companies investing in 
their own bespoke premises.  Regeneration can also involve re-inventing a place, a fresh 
vision and seeking to attract and grow new industries and markets.  The pace of 
technological change and innovation can make it hard to predict future requirements.  
Altogether, a patient and flexible approach is needed.

• The proposal that commercial sites should be protected for as little as three years before 
being released for Starter Homes takes far too short-term a view both of commercial 
property markets and of the dynamics of regeneration schemes.  It is TGKP’s view that 
this measure could be extremely damaging to regeneration initiatives. 

• It is crucial, of course, that local planning authorities take a realistic view about the 
prospects for development coming forward on any particular site, especially as what is 
fit for industrial and commercial purposes may change over time.  However, we would 
caution against giving too much weight to land values to influence decision-making.  
[With few exceptions, land values are heavily weighted in favour of residential rather 
than commercial uses.]  The consultation document states that “appropriate 
consideration” should be given to trends in land values for commercial and employment 
uses, against land values for other uses including residential.  The implication is that 
higher value uses should determine the outcome: but this would simply widen the 
existing disparity between commercial and residential values, adding fuel to the fire of 
an already distorted market.

• This part of the consultation document appears to rely on rather slender evidence 
extrapolated into very broad assumptions.  We suggest that far more research and 
evidence are required to understand the status and distribution of commercial land 
across England and the appropriate policy response to ensure both that sufficient 
commercial sites are identified and available for business investment at the same time 
as releasing for other uses sites which, even taking the long-term view advocated 
above, are unlikely to be delivered in a timescale that would justify their protection for 
those purposes.



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

APPENDIX B

Q14. Do you consider that the starter homes exception site policy should be extended 
to unviable or underused retail, leisure and non-residential institutional brownfield land?

• We suggest that same broad principle should apply to under-used retail, leisure and 
non-residential institutional brownfield land as we advocate above should be taken with 
commercial sites: in other words, looking at long-term potential and opportunities as 
well as at short-term pressures.  Sites falling under this description may offer much 
broader potential for an area’s future development or re-development than simply as a 
location for starter homes.  This will vary from case to case and suggests that a blanket 
exceptions sites policy would not necessarily serve to support sustainable development.  

• Clarification is also needed as to the definition and determination of “unviable”.

• It might be more appropriate for national guidance to give stronger encouragement to 
positive policies for beneficial re-use of underused retail, leisure and non-residential 
institutional brownfield land, with particular attention to whether they would be 
suitable for starter homes.

Q15. Do you support the proposal to strengthen the starter homes exception site policy? If 
not, why not?

• The consistent experience across Thames Gateway Kent is that concerns on the part of 
existing residents about new development proposals are more often than not primarily 
about the impact on local infrastructure – transport, schools, local amenities and health 
facilities – and only secondarily about the merits or otherwise of the developments 
themselves.  This reinforces the point that for new development to integrate 
successfully into the fabric of existing communities, it must pull its weight in terms of 
supporting infrastructure.

• TGKP remains concerned that the Government’s expectation that starter home 
developments be exempted from contributing towards infrastructure, such as via a CIL 
charging scheme, will result in or exacerbate deficits in transport, community and other 
infrastructure and facilities.  Broadening the exceptions site approach would increase 
that risk and the negative consequences for the sustainability of new development.  
We suggest that a more precautionary approach should be taken toward classification 
of exceptions sites, that this should be more a matter for local determination than 
national guidance, and that development on exceptions sites should make an 
appropriate contribution towards local infrastructure.

Q16. Should starter homes form a significant element of any housing component within 
mixed use developments and converted unlet commercial units?

• Conversion of commercial or other premises into residential use has to be regarded as 
irreversible.  For this reason, careful consideration needs to be given to the impact such 
conversions might have, for instance on the street scene and future permitted activities 
in town centres.  We concur with the proposition that there is potential for housing to 
play a greater role in town centre regeneration, and in principle starter homes might 
form an element of that.  But we suggest that, in addition to our comments on Q13 
about safeguarding longer-term commercial potential, housing proposals in mixed use 



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

APPENDIX B

developments should stand on their own merits and that wider planning 
considerations should not be set aside in favour of starter homes. 

Q17. Should rural exception sites be used to deliver starter homes in rural areas? If so, 
should local planning authorities have the flexibility to require local connection tests?

• We would support local planning authorities having the flexibility to require local 
connection test for both rural exception sites and more widely for starter homes.  We 
would also make the observation that once the time limit on re-sale of starter homes 
has elapsed, there is no mechanism to ensure that homes would be available to (or 
affordable for) other first-time buyers.  What helps the initial buyer onto the home 
ownership ladder does not necessarily help subsequent buyers.  The Government might 
wish to consider whether there are ways the initial subsidy can be recycled to extend 
the benefit to future buyers.

Q18. Are there any other policy approaches to delivering starter homes in rural areas that 
you would support?

• No comments.

Q19. Should local communities have the opportunity to allocate sites for small scale 
starter home developments in their Green Belt through neighbourhood plans?

• Green Belt is a policy and designation with a strategic purpose – primarily to constrain 
urban sprawl and maintain the openness of land adjacent to the urban edge.  It follows 
that decisions affecting Green Belt ought to belong at the strategic level at which Green 
Belt boundaries and policies are determined.  We therefore question whether it is 
appropriate to give neighbourhood plans and the communities who prepare them the 
powers to determine allocations in the Green Belt.  As a matter of principle we would 
therefore say the answer to Q.19 is no.  But we do recognise that where allocation of 
small sites in the Green Belt for starter homes, or indeed for employment or other uses, 
has strong support from the local community, and provided this would not cause 
substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, this should carry weight in 
decisions by the local planning authority.

Q20. Should planning policy be amended to allow redevelopment of brownfield sites for 
starter homes through a more flexible approach to assessing the impact on openness?

• The proposals in the consultation paper essentially identify starter homes as a preferred 
use for brownfield sites, including those located in Green Belts.  By definition, Green 
Belts are on the periphery of urban areas and sites within them may be isolated from 
local amenities, public transport networks and other facilities such as schools and 
healthcare.  It is questionable whether such sites will necessarily be appropriate and 
sustainable locations for starter homes.  We would therefore suggest that the test in 
paragraph 89 of the NPPF would not only need to consider whether or not there would 
be substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, but also whether the location 
was sustainable.

• It is unclear what is intended in paragraph 54 of the consultation document by 
“contributes to the delivery of starter homes”.  Is the intention to allow re-development 



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

APPENDIX B

of brownfield sites in Green Belts where these comprise starter homes (i.e. exclusively) 
or whether these may be broader schemes that include starter homes as a substantial 
ingredient of the scheme?

• There will be brownfield sites in the Green Belt which should probably never be 
considered for housing of any description, having regard to their former use, for 
example landfill sites.

e) TRANSITIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

Q21. We would welcome your views on our proposed transitional arrangements.

• Based on local planning authorities’ experience in North Kent, a transitional period of 6-
12 months is likely to be insufficient given the fundamental changes proposed. The time 
required will vary between authorities.

• The Consultation Document states that a transitional period is only considered 
necessary to deal with the broadening of the definition of affordable housing. This is not 
the only time-intensive change.  For example:

o Defining the boundaries of proposed new settlements would – unless these are 
already established – require research and formulation, possibly from scratch; 
others would as a minimum likely require review of proposed boundaries, 
including appropriate public consultation;  

o The Paper states that "The Planning Inspectorate has introduced a fast-track 
process for carrying out partial reviews of Local Plans".  However, we 
understand the Inspectorate’s position to be that this is not intended to address 
housing matters.  In any event, it would still have to circumnavigate existing 
regulatory requirements of Local Plan production.

• It is not possible to be clear on the duration of transitional arrangements given the 
uncertainties (including arising from the lack of detail in some of the ideas put forward 
in the current consultation).  However, if these can be resolved, the professional view of 
officers is that a transitional period of up to 24 months would be more reasonable and 
realistic for many local planning authorities, having regard also for the cumulative 
impact of other policy and legislative changes on local planning authorities at a time of 
budgetary constraint.

f) GENERAL QUESTIONS

Q22. What are your views on the assumptions and data sources set out in this document 
to estimate the impact of the proposed changes? Is there any other evidence which you 
think we need to consider?

• There are two areas in particular where the evidence base and assumptions seem less 
than robust:

o Paragraph 54 refers to the 2010 National Land Use Database.  These data are 
now significantly out of date and do not provide a reliable basis on which to 
estimate the impact of the proposed policy changes.



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

APPENDIX B

o The Equalities Statement accompanying the consultation document states on 
p.5, under the heading of ‘Broadening the affordable housing definition’, that 
“New affordable housing built through section 106 planning obligations only 
adds a small contribution to the overall affordable housing stock in England”.  
This will vary from area to area.  At a national level, out of 66,640 affordable 
homes of all types provided in 2014/15, 14,370 (22%) were provided through 
s.106 obligations2.  For North Kent, 217 out of 685 affordable homes in 2014/15 
(32%) were provided through s.106 obligations3; for Dartford the figure was 
85%.  Even at national level, 22% is not a small contribution, and these data 
show that for some sub-regions and individual authorities the contribution to 
affordable housing provision through s.106 obligations is significant.  We 
suggest therefore a much more nuanced analysis is required to understand the 
differential impact that the proposed broadening of the affordable homes 
definition might have at local level.

Q23. Have you any other views on the implications of our proposed changes to national 
planning policy on people with protected characteristics as defined in the Equalities Act 
2010? What evidence do you have on this matter?

• No further comments.

Thames Gateway Kent Partnership

[January 2016]

2 DCLG, Table 1000: Additional affordable homes provided by type of scheme, England; social rent, 
affordable rent and affordable home ownership (all s.106 nil grant).
3 Live Table 1011: Additional Affordable Housing Supply 2014-15; detailed breakdown by Local 
Authority: aggregation of data for Dartford, Gravesham, Medway and Swale.



                            
CABINET

21 JANUARY 2016

CONSULTATION ON RIVER CROSSINGS IN EAST LONDON 

1. Summary

1.1 Transport for London is carrying out further consultation on proposals for river 
crossings at Gallions Reach and Belvedere in East London.  This report sets out 
relevant issues for the Council to consider at this stage and proposes a 
response.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1  That the impact of the proposals for new river crossings in East London, as set 
out in the report, be noted.

2.2  That a response to the consultation be sent to Transport for London, based on 
the emboldened text in paragraphs 4.2, 4.4, 4.5, 4.10, 4.11 and 4.12 of the 
report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Mayor of London has carried out several consultations on 
proposals to improve connections across the River Thames 
downstream of the Blackwall Tunnel.  The last of these consultations 
regarding the Woolwich Ferry, Gallions Reach and Belvedere crossings 
was considered by Cabinet on 11 September 2014 (Minute no 46).  
The Mayor has progressed proposals for a Silvertown Crossing and is 
now progressing options for the Gallions Reach and Belvedere 
crossings.  The current consultation focusses on these latter two 
crossings.  No decision has currently been made on the long-term 
future of the Woolwich Ferry.  

3.2 The consultation seeks views as to whether these two crossings are 
supported, whether they should be provided as bridges or tunnels and 
what public transport, walking and cycling connections should be 
provided as part of the crossings.  

3.3 Further assessments on the proposals have been carried out and the 
consultation is supported by technical documents including a Strategic 
Business Case and a Traffic Impact Report.  The reference traffic case 
in 2031 assumes that the Silvertown Tunnel is implemented with 
charging being applied there as well as the Blackwall Tunnel and other 
new crossings.  The Transport Assessment notes that proposals for a 
new Lower Thames Crossing are being considered, although these do 
not appear to have been included in the modelling.    

3.4 The Silvertown Tunnel will provide a new link from the A102M 
Blackwall Tunnel Approach at Greenwich Peninsula to Silvertown Way 
at the western end of the Royal Docks and via the Lower Lea Crossing 



                            
CABINET

21 JANUARY 2016

to the A13.   It will double the available road capacity in the vicinity of 
the Blackwall Tunnel, serving the significant areas of new development 
both sides of the river and helping to reduce congestion and delays.  It 
will reduce the number of overheight vehicles attempting to use the 
Blackwall Tunnel, which is a regular reason for tunnel closures, and will 
also provide a safety valve to keep traffic moving when the Blackwall 
Tunnel is closed for other reasons.  These features could be of 
considerable benefit to Dartford and progress on the scheme is to be 
welcomed.  At present, when there is congestion or full closure of the 
Blackwall Tunnel, congestion and delay on the primary road network 
quickly spreads to Dartford.

4. Current Consultation

4.1 It is proposed that the Gallions Reach Crossing would link the A2016 
Western Way in Thamesmead with the A1020 Royal Docks Road in the 
north and the Belvedere Crossing would link the A2016 Bronze Age 
Way in Belvedere with the A13 Marsh Way in Rainham.  The new 
crossings could open around 2025.  The case for the two river 
crossings is made in the context of increased growth in London’s 
population over the next 15 years with a projected increase of more 
than 5 million people in East London.  The project objectives for the 
crossings are to support population and economic growth; to improve 
cross-river connectivity; and to improve the resilience of cross-river 
transport links. 

4.2 Tunnel and bridge options are currently being assessed for both 
crossings, with a range of factors being considered before a final 
decision is taken.  From Dartford’sperspective, the resilience issue is 
particularly relevant.  A tunnel option for both crossings is likely to 
provide greater resilience, given that it is less susceptible to poor 
weather conditions than a bridge.  If bridges were to be 
implemented, there would be a significant impact on resilience on 
occasions of high wind when not only the new bridges but also 
the Queen Elizabeth II Bridge may have to be closed at the same 
time.

4.3 The work undertaken on cross-river rail links shows that an extension 
of the existing DLR network or a tram-based option would be more 
feasible at Gallions Reach than at Belvedere because of the closer 
proximity to DLR as well as the greater density of population.  

4.4 Bus services have been considered for both crossings and these would 
be in addition to potential rail options.  It is intended that the dedicated 
bus lanes would be provided on the crossings.  The potential for 
complementary bus priority lanes on the wider local road network, 
providing rapid bus transport links, is recognised.  As an example, it is 
suggested that the Belvedere Crossing could provide connections with 
Dagenham, Rainham and Romford to Belvedere, Erith and 
Bexleyheath.  It is considered that there is merit in considering 



                            
CABINET

21 JANUARY 2016

potential connections into Dartford. For example, given the major 
concentrations of employment at The Bridge and Crossways and 
the absence of rail connectivity at these destinations or any cross 
river public transport connectivity, there would be significant 
benefits including improved access to employment opportunities 
in providing a rapid bus transport link from Abbey 
Wood/Belvedere, through Erith extending to The Bridge and 
Crossways.  The overlap with the Fastrack service on the eastern 
part of this route would, however, require careful consideration.  It 
is proposed that TfL are requested to liaise with Dartford Council 
and KCC in considering potential connections.

 
4.5 The consultation seeks views as to whether there would be demand for 

walking and bicycle facilities on the crossings as part of the proposals.  
There is unlikely to be demand for walking provision from Dartford 
given the distances involved.  In the case of cycling, the demand might 
be improved by provision of improved connections to the cycing 
network, for example along the River Thames.  It is proposed that TfL 
are requested to liaise with Dartford Council and KCC in 
considering improved cross-boundary connectivity in the cycle 
network.

4.6 The two proposed crossings would result in changes in traffic volumes 
and patterns of travel across large parts of east and south-east 
London.  Modelling shows that local traffic would make up a large part 
of traffic on the new crossings and that there would not be any 
significant displacement of traffic from the Dartford Crossing as a result 
of the proposed new crossings.  In the am peak there would be a 
decrease of approximately 300 passenger car units (car =1 unit, 
HGV=2 units) per hour out of a total approximately 6,000 pcu’s 
crossing the Dartford Bridge northbound.  (Please note these are not 
accurate figures, as only a chart was provided).

4.7 The proposed crossings would provide a more direct route for traffic 
which currently uses the Dartford Crossing and, to a lesser extent, the 
Blackwall Tunnel.  This would reduce traffic on the inner A13, A2, Bob 
Dunn Way and the Dartford Crossing itself.  A higher level of traffic is 
expected on roads approaching or leading to the river crossings 
including roads in the north of Bexley and Greenwich and some 
increase on the M25 either side of the Dartford crossing.  

4.8 The impacts of the proposed crossings are considered to be largely 
beneficial with reduced levels of delay showing at most locations in 
Dartford. Additional road capacity between the Blackwall Tunnel and 
the Dartford Crossing will assist in spreading the load and increasing 
the resilience of the strategic road network in the area.  This will mean 
fewer instances of major congestion in the vicinity of Dartford.  The 
Belvedere Bridge, in particular, will divert traffic west of Dartford away 
from the Dartford Crossing.  



                            
CABINET

21 JANUARY 2016

4.9 It is unlikely that these additional crossings in London will impact on the 
decision to deliver the Lower Thames Crossing because of the very 
limited impact on the Dartford Crossing.   It was acknowledged in the 
government response to the consultation on the Lower Thames 
Crossing of July 2014 that the increased river crossing capacity within 
London, which primarily serves London traffic, was likely to have a 
negligible effect on traffic demand at the Dartford Crossing.

4.10 However, it would appear from the Strategic Business Case that 
the assumed household growth does not take into account the 
Mayor’s City in the East proposals.  These include 21,500 homes 
and 8,500 jobs at Bexley Riverside.  The proposed river crossings 
will be essential to support this level of growth.  In the absence of 
traffic modelling which takes the growth into account, it is unclear 
whether the proposed crossing capacity will be sufficient.  It is 
also unclear what the impact will be on the Dartford Crossing.  TfL 
should, therefore, be requested to urgently carry out updated 
modelling to reflect these scenarios and share the outcomes with 
Dartford Council and KCC.  

4.11 There is to be a charge to use the London crossings so as to 
encourage some people to use public transport rather than car and 
thereby keep demand for use of the crossings within manageable 
limits. It is also proposed to charge for use of the Blackwall Tunnel. 
Peak period charges are proposed to be similar to the Dartford 
Crossing, although final decisions have not yet been made.  Since the 
Blackwall Tunnel is currently uncharged, the introduction of charges on 
this and other crossings could influence demand at the Dartford 
Crossing and change the balance of traffic using each crossing.  
Clearly, a co-ordinated approach needs to be taken at the existing and 
proposed river crossings, so that a balanced pattern of vehicle flows is 
achieved, and with clear objectives for the use of toll receipts linked to 
the funding of new infrastructure.  An imposition of charges at The 
Blackwall Tunnel in advance of provision of additional capacity 
could displace traffic from the Blackwall Tunnel to the Dartford 
Crossing resulting in further congestion in the Dartford area.  This 
scenario should be avoided.

4.12  It is suggested that Transport for London be informed that the 
Council supports the proposals for additional capacity west of 
Dartford.  The two proposed bridges would provide significant 
benefit in balancing traffic flows between the available crossing 
points and thus increase the resilience of the strategic road 
network.  The Council notes the proposal to introduce crossing 
tolls.  It is considered that this will have implications for charges 
at other downstream crossings including the Dartford River 
Crossing and the proposed Lower Thames Crossing.  A co-
ordinated, strategic approach needs to be taken to tolling, 
involving Transport for London, the Department for Transport and 
the local authorities directly affected by the proposals, with clear 



                            
CABINET

21 JANUARY 2016

objectives both for traffic management and for the use of the 
resulting revenue to finance strategic infrastructure.

5.       Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Economic Development and Regeneration: Ensure the delivery of 
timely transport infrastructure

6 Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

7. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

8. Appendices

Appendix A– Location of Proposed River Crossings

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information Category

Teresa Ryszkowska
Head of Regeneration
 (01322) 343631

Strategic
(External 
Services)

N/A





                            
CABINET

21 JANUARY 2016

APPENDIX A : LOCATION OF PROPOSED RIVER CROSSINGS





CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

PARKING CONSULTATION: HEATH, STONE AND TOWN WARDS

1. Summary

1.1 Some of the residents of Heath, Stone and Town wards reported numerous 
and increasing parking related issues, mainly as a result of rail-heading. The 
Council has undertaken a number of consultations on proposals for managing 
the reported issues.

1.2 This report summarises the results of the consultation undertaken from 5th to 
30th November 2015.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the completion of the traffic regulation order in accordance with 
paragraph 3.7 of the report and the implementation of the schemes be 
approved.

2.2 That households within the consultation areas be informed of the consultation 
outcome and the applicable installations.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Some residents of Heath, Stone and Town wards reported 
inconsiderate parking by those accessing railway stations and, in the 
case of Town ward, Dartford’s town centre.

3.2. The parking management proposals consulted on for each ward are 
summarised as follows:

Heath: Bowmans Road and North Road

 Introduce ‘No waiting Monday to Friday 11 a.m. to 12 noon’ 
regulations supported by ‘No waiting at any time’ regulations 
(corner protection) at the junctions of each street where not 
already installed.

Heath: Chastilian Road

 Extend the lengths of existing ‘No waiting Monday to Friday 9 to 
11 a.m.’ regulations supported by ‘No waiting at any time’ 
regulations (corner protection) at the junctions of each street 
where not already installed.

Stone: Elizabeth Street, Church Road and Bell Close

 Introduce ‘Permit holders only Monday to Friday 9.30 a.m. to 4 
p.m.’ regulations supported by ‘No waiting at any time’ 
regulations for ‘traffic movement’ and ‘road user safety’ reasons 
preventing obstruction and improving sight-lines on bends and at 
junctions.



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

Stone: Chalice Way, Church Hill and Stone Place Road

 Introduce ‘No waiting at any time’ regulations for ‘traffic 
movement’ and ‘road user safety’ reasons preventing obstruction 
and improving sight-lines on bends and at junctions.

Town: Spring Vale and Gordon Road

 Introduce ‘Permit holders only Monday to Saturday 9.30 a.m. to 
4.30 p.m.’ regulations supported by ‘No waiting at any time’ 
regulations for ‘traffic movement’ and ‘road user safety’ reasons 
preventing obstruction and improving sight-lines on bends and at 
junctions.

3.3. The Council provided an online survey enabling respondents to engage 
with the statutory consultation easily; however many wrote in, some of 
which were ‘template response letters’ provided by residents for 
residents, and a petition of objection was received from a lead 
petitioner in North Road. The overall response rates for Heath, Stone 
and Town wards were 49.8%, 39.1% and 39.6% respectively. The 
tables in paragraphs 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6 below provide detail by ward and 
street given it is Council practice to require the majority of households 
in a ‘street’ to support parking management proposals for that street.

3.4. The results for Heath ward:

Support Object
Response 

rate
% of 

respondents
% of 

households
% of 

respondents
% of 

households
Bowmans Road 57.1% 85.7% 49.0% 10.7% 6.1%
North Road 64.4% 32.9% 21.2% 67.1% 43.2%
Chastilian Road 23.0% 56.5% 13.0% 43.5% 10.0%

The response rate from the Chastilian Road households was low 
because many are in a section of the street already regulated by ‘No 
waiting Mondays to Fridays 9 to 11 a.m. The ‘mapped’ responses 
illustrate those that responded represent households from the current 
regulation install end onwards; regardless, the Council’s threshold for 
scheme installation was not achieved.

The ward councillors revisited Bowmans Road households because 
although the consultation responses indicated significant support for 
the proposals, positive responses were fractionally below the Council’s 
threshold; 49% of households stated support. The councillors obtained 
a further six responses from households that had not responded to the 
consultation; five supported the proposals and one objected. This 
continues the trend for ‘support’ and indicates the majority of the street 
support the proposals.

A petition was received for North Road which confirms there is no 
support for proposals in much of the street.



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

3.5. The results for Stone ward:

Support Object
Response 

rate
% of 

respondents
% of 

households
% of 

respondents
% of 

households
Church Road 47.1% 100.0% 47.1% 0.0% 0.0%
Bell Close 32.8% 65.0% 21.3% 35.0% 11.5%
Elizabeth Street 82.4% 92.9% 76.5% 0.0% 0.0%
Upper Church Hill 33.3% 100.0% 33.3% 50.0% 16.7%
Lower Church Hill 10.0% 100.0% 10.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Stone Place Road 2.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

The Council’s threshold for scheme delivery was achieved only for 
Elizabeth Street enabling the introduction of a permit parking scheme.

The response rate for Church Road was close to the Council’s 
threshold, but the number of ‘households’ responding without 
requested changes was only three and the remainder responding 
requested changes to scheme operation times and permit costs. For 
efficient parking management reasons, Church Road formed part of 
‘parking zone’ with Bell Close for which the Council’s threshold was not 
achieved.

The proposals for Church Hill and Stone Place Road included ‘No 
waiting at any time’ (double yellow lines) regulations for ‘traffic 
movement’ and ‘road user safety reasons. Many of the responses 
identified the inconsiderate parking in these locations as an issue; 
therefore, it is recommended advice be taken from KCC about 
installing appropriate ‘No waiting’ regulations in the most ‘hazardous’ 
sections of the highway to ensure ‘forward visibility’ is acceptable and 
‘obstructions’ do not occur. The rules and regulations of The Highway 
Code should be used to inform KCC’s considerations. Seventeen 
responses were received from non-residents and 47.1% of them 
supported the proposals.

3.6. The results for Town ward:

Support Object
Response 

rate
% of 

respondents
% of 

households
% of 

respondents
% of 

households
Spring Vale (North 
and South) 16.5% 75.0% 12.4% 25.0% 4.1%

Gordon Road 70.8% 98.0% 69.4% 3.9% 2.8%

The Council’s threshold for scheme delivery was achieved for Gordon 
Road enabling the introduction of a permit parking scheme.

The Council’s threshold was not achieved for Spring Vale and therefore 
the permit parking management proposals can not be introduced.



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

3.7. The results are considered along with comments and it is 
recommended that Cabinet approve the completion of the traffic 
regulation order and the implementation of the schemes as identified in 
the following table.

Street name Recommendation
Bowmans Road Install as proposed.
North Road Do not install.
Chastilian Road Do not install.
Church Road Do not install.
Bell Close Do not install.
Elizabeth Street Install as proposed.
Church Hill Install as appropriate following advice from KCC.
Upper Church Hill See Church Hill (postal addresses only).
Lower Church Hill See Church Hill (postal addresses only).
Stone Place Road Install as appropriate following advice from KCC.
Spring Vale (North and 
South) Do not install.

Gordon Road Install as proposed.

3.8. It is recommended that Cabinet resolve to inform the households of the 
consultation outcome and the applicable installations.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

None.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications Costs include the production and delivery of 
letters to households; and the installation of 
regulations. The installations cost is 
estimated at £5,000 and will be met from an 
existing budget for Lines & Signs.

Legal Implications The completion of the statutory process for 
traffic regulation orders including the ‘sealing’ 
of the relevant TRO.

Staffing Implications The production and delivery of letters to 
households; and the co-ordination of 
surveying, ordering and supervising the 
installation of the scheme. On-going patrols 
and enforcement of the scheme. All will be 
met by existing staff.

Administrative 
Implications

The provision of Resident Permit and Visitor 
Permit issue via existing Council systems.

Risk Assessment Vehicle displacement may occur resulting in 
residents from neighbouring streets 
requesting parking management regulations. 
The consultation areas detailed in this report 



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

attempted to mitigate, but the households’ 
responses prevented the installations to 
mitigate. It is KCC policy not to propose 
regulations within the same streets for the 
same highway management reasons within 
three years of a statutory TRO consultation 
exercise.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Parking consultation: Heath, 
Stone and Town wards.

- Transport Services 
Manager

Parking 
Services, 

EARS

N/A





CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

MANAGEMENT OF DOUBLE PARKING AND PARKING AT 
DROPPED KERBS

1. Summary

1.1 Kent County Council (KCC) adopted formal powers to enforce against ‘double 
parking’ and ‘parking at dropped kerbs’ under the Traffic Management Act 
2004. KCC’s Parking Manager was granted approval in March 2011 for each 
district to commence enforcement of dropped kerbs and double parking. This 
report seeks approval to commence the enforcement of the same within the 
Borough of Dartford.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the powers to enforce against ‘double parking’ and ‘parking at dropped 
kerbs’, with the exception of private driveways, be adopted by Dartford Borough 
Council.

2.2 That the public be advised of the newly adopted enforcement using various 
media.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The introduction of the Traffic Management Act 2004 gave Authorities 
powers to issue a penalty charge notice to any vehicle ‘double parked’ 
or ‘parked adjacent to a dropped kerb’. The current agency agreements 
between Kent County Council (KCC) and its district authorities require 
KCC to give written permission to each district prior to the district 
exercising these powers.

3.2. There are three parking ‘regulations’ the powers can be used for:

 A vehicle parked adjacent to a dropped kerb at a crossing point; 
dropped kerbs for community use which are sometimes 
identified by the use of tactile paving. This includes where a 
footway, cycle track or verge has been lowered to meet the 
carriageway; and where the carriageway has been raised to the 
level of the footway, cycle track or verge. Such parking causes 
inconvenience for people trying to cross the road and, in 
particular, those pushing prams or using wheelchairs and 
mobility vehicles.

 Double parking is defined as ‘parking 50cm or greater from the 
kerb’. Double parking may cause congestion and 
inconveniences other road users. KCC recommends CEOs 
issue a PCN whenever they observe this contravention.

 Parking adjacent to a dropped kerb outside residential 
properties. KCC recommends CEOs do not issue PCNs in 
these cases. Legislation explicitly allows vehicles to park in such 
circumstances by, or with the consent of the property 



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

owner/occupier, unless it is a shared driveway. Moreover, the 
enforcement of private dropped kerbs may lead to a public 
expectation of a twenty-four hour enforcement regime and the 
subsequent removal of vehicles, neither of which can be 
achieved within current civil enforcement practices. Kent Police 
retains powers and protocols to respond should it be considered 
necessary.

3.3. KCC recommends an ‘advertising campaign’ take place before the 
enforcement powers are employed. Suggested media include warning 
notices on vehicles, press releases and advisory leaflets. The length of 
the recommended campaign period is two months. The campaign is 
considered necessary in the interests of transparency and fairness to 
the potentially affected road users (those who park illegally).

3.4. Enforcement of double parking and parking at dropped kerbs will assist 
those with visual or mobility impairment.

3.5. The penalty charge for ‘double parking’ and ‘parking at dropped kerbs’ 
contraventions is £70 discounted by fifty per cent if paid within fourteen 
days.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1. Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications Costs include the development of the 
campaign material and can be met from an 
existing budget for ‘Transport Promotions’.
The effect on the ‘fines and costs’ budget is 
anticipated to be negligible; the newly 
adopted enforcement powers simply ensures 
good traffic management.

Legal Implications No traffic regulation order is required because 
the Traffic Management Act 2004 provides 
the legislative powers enabling enforcement.

Staffing Implications The Council’s existing CEO resource will 
undertake enforcement as part of its normal 
patrols.

Administrative 
Implications

Initial set-up and the on-going processing of 
penalty charge notices will be met by existing 
staff resources.

Risk Assessment Drivers who receive a penalty charge notice 
as a result of choosing to park illegally may 
complain about enforcement practice. Such 
complaints will be dealt with as part of 
existing notice processing operations.



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Double Parking and Parking at Dropped kerbs advice 
leaflets – this is KCC’s template and will be edited for 
the Council’s use.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Management of double 
parking and parking at 
dropped kerbs.

- Transport Services 
Manager

Parking 
Services, 

EARS

N/A





APPENDIX A





               
CABINET

21 JANUARY 2016

HEALTH INEQUALITIES ACTION PLAN 2016 - 2018

1. Summary

The purpose of this report is to seek adoption of Dartford’s Health Inequalities 
Action Plan 2016 – 2018 following its consideration by the Policy Overview 
Committee on 15 December 2015.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Action Plan 2016 – 2018 be 
adopted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. On 13 March 2013, the Policy Overview Committee agreed the first Dartford 
Health Inequalities Action Plan.  This Plan has now expired and a new three 
year Plan (2016-18) has been developed.  

3.2. The Action Plan is based on a Kent wide model and sets out priority actions 
based on health statistical data for Dartford.  The aim of the Action Plan is to 
provide a partnership approach to delivering actions set out in the plan to 
improve the health and wellbeing of residents and reduce health 
inequalities.  The preventative health projects delivered by this Council form 
part of this Action Plan.

3.3. The Action Plan sets out six themes to reduce health inequalities across the 
Borough:

 Give every child the best start in life;

 Enable all children, young people and adults to maximise their 
capabilities and have control over their lives;

 Create fair employment and good work for all;

 Ensure a healthy standard of living for all;

 Create and develop healthy and sustainable places and communities;

 Strengthen the role and impact of ill health prevention.

3.4. The new Action Plan compares the 2015 Dartford Health Profile data to that 
of 2012.  This comparison shows the following improvements:

 A decrease in alcohol-specific hospital stays in the under 18’s and 
conceptions among the under 18s

 A decrease in smoking prevalence among adults



              
CABINET

21 JANUARY 2016

 A decrease in hospital stays for self-harm and alcohol related harm

 A decrease in the use of some drugs

 An increase in both male and female life expectancy

 A decrease in numbers of people killed or seriously injured on the roads

3.5. However, the same profiles also suggest:

 An increase in hip fractures in the over 65s and in excess winter deaths

 An increase in recorded diabetes

 An increase in childhood obesity in Year 6

 An increase in violent crime

 A significant increase in the life expectancy gap between the most and 
least deprived women

3.6. With the current Health Inequalities Action Plan at an end, and based on the 
Health Profile data, Officers have reviewed the priorities for Dartford for the 
new three year Action Plan.  The priorities identified within the Plan are:

 Promote Healthy Weight for Children

 Support older people to keep them safe, independent and living fulfilled 
lives

 Support businesses to have healthy workplaces

 Provide the right support at the right time including financial capacity 
support and inclusion  

 Sustain and support safe communities

 Reduce the gap in health inequalities across the social gradient

3.7. At its meeting on 15 December 2015 the Policy Overview Committee were 
asked to consider a draft version of Dartford’s Health Inequalities Action 
Plan 2016 – 2018.

3.8. During discussion Policy Overview Committee Members had welcomed the 
Plan but had asked that it be amended so that more emphasis is placed on 
the need to address poor air quality for those living in areas where air 
pollution is known to be a problem.

3.9. The revised version of the Health Inequalities Action Plan 2016 – 2018 is 
attached at Appendix A and is being presented to Cabinet for adoption, 
subject to any further amendments that Members may wish to make.



              
CABINET

21 JANUARY 2016

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Health and Wellbeing is a corporate theme in the Plan.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The lead body receives £123,870 of funding to 
deliver preventative health work in the borough of 
Dartford.  
However, in July 2015, a 10% in-year budget 
saving was required by Kent Public Health, 
leaving a total annual budget of £111,483 for this 
financial year.

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications The Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator post is funded 
by the preventative health locality funding

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment Inability to deliver against the service 
specifications set by Public Health could result in 
the loss of budget and the termination of a 
number of projects.

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Dartford Borough Health Inequality Action Plan 2016 - 2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Hayley Brooks
(01732) 227272

Community Development 
Team (Sevenoaks District 
Council – shared service)

N/A





 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Dartford Borough 
  

Health Inequalities Action Plan 2016-18 

APPENDIX A



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 2 

 

Contents 

Update Summary 2015 ........................................................................................................................................................................3 

Introduction ..........................................................................................................................................................................................5 

What Are Health Inequalities? ..........................................................................................................................................................5 

Dartford Borough Health Overview 2015 ..........................................................................................................................................6 

Health Inequalities in Dartford Borough .......................................................................................................................................... 10 

What this Plan will do to tackle Health Inequalities in Dartford Borough ......................................................................................... 12 

Who Will Do What ........................................................................................................................................................................... 12 

Objective 1:   Give every child the best start in life............................................................................................................................. 18 

Objective 2:  Enable all children, young people and adults to maximise their capabilities and have control over their lives .............. 23 

Objective 3:  Create fair employment & good work for all .................................................................................................................. 29 

Objective 4:  Ensure healthy standard of living for all ........................................................................................................................ 32 

Objective 5:  Create and develop healthy and sustainable places and communities ......................................................................... 35 

Objective 6: Strengthen the role and impact of ill health prevention ................................................................................................. 40 

References ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 46 

Glossary: ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 47 

 

  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 3 

Update Summary 2015 
 
In 2013 we published our first Mind the Gap Health Inequalities Action Plan. We have achieved a great deal since then but there is more to do. 
This document provides an update on our progress and sets out our new priorities for 2016 – 2018. 
 
In our first plan 2013-2015 we set local priorities for action within a wider set of aspirations: 
 
1. Give every child the best start in life 

Increase breastfeeding rates at 6-8 weeks 
Promote healthy weight for children 

 
2. Enable all children, young people and adults to maximise their capabilities and have control over their lives 

Narrow the gap in attendance and attainment for vulnerable young people particularly at GCSE level 

3. Create fair employment and good work for all 
Increase the proportion of young people (16-18 and 18-24) in full time education, employment or training 

 
4. Ensure healthy standard of living for all 

Support financial capacity and inclusion  
 

5. Create and develop healthy and sustainable places and communities  
Develop our communities to be healthy places  
 

6. Strengthen the role and impact of ill health prevention 
Reduce the gap in health inequalities across the social gradient 

 
 
When we compare our 2015 Health Profile1 to that of 2012, the Borough has achieved: 
 

• A decrease in alcohol-specific hospital stays in the under 18’s and conceptions among the under 18s 
• A decrease in smoking prevalence among adults 
• A decrease in hospital stays for self harm and alcohol related harm 
• A decrease in the use of some drugs 
• An increase in both male and female life expectancy 
• A decrease in numbers of people killed or seriously injured on the roads 

                                            
1 Health Profiles are produced annually by Public Heath England and can be viewed here: http://www.apho.org.uk/default.aspx?QN=P_HEALTH_PROFILES  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 4 

However, the same profiles also suggest we have: 
 

• An increase in hip fractures in the over 65s and in excess winter deaths 
• An increase in recorded diabetes 
• An increase in childhood obesity in Year 6 
• An increase in violent crime 

• A significant increase in the life expectancy gap between the most and least deprived women 

 
For 2016-18 our priorities are: 
 

1. Give every child the best start in life   
Promote Healthy Weight for Children 
 

2. Enable all children, young people and adults to maximise their capabilities and have control over their lives 
Support older people to keep them safe, independent and living fulfilled lives 
 

3. Create fair employment and good work for all 
Support businesses to have healthy workplaces 
 

4. Ensure healthy standard of living for all 
Provide the right support at the right time including financial capacity support and inclusion   
 

5. Create and develop healthy and sustainable places and communities  
Develop our communities to be healthy places 
 

6. Strengthen the role and impact of ill health prevention 
Reduce the gap in health inequalities across the social gradient 

 
The action plan at the end of this document sets out what we will do to address these issues. While these are our priorities we will continue to 
work with our partners to address the other areas of work which contribute to improving health and reducing health inequalities.  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 5 

Introduction  
 

What Are Health Inequalities? 
 
Health inequalities are the result of a mixture of factors including:  

• the long-term effects of a disadvantaged social position  

• differences in access to information, services and resources  

• differences in exposure to risk  

• lack of control over one’s own life circumstances  

• a health system that may reinforce social and economic inequalities.  

 

 
 
These factors all affect a person’s ability to withstand the biological, social, psychological and economic that can trigger ill health, these factors 
are demonstrated in Figure 1. They also affect the capacity to change behaviour. 
 
Measures of health inequality are not primarily about health but about socio-economic status which has an impact on health and can lead to 
disease. Relative deprivation impacts on a person’s ability to participate in or have access to employment, occupation, education, recreation, 
family and social activities and relationships which are commonly experienced by the mainstream. People in deprived circumstances often do 
not present with major health problems until too late. Barriers to presentation include structural issues such as poor access and transport; 
language and literacy problems; poor knowledge; low expectation of health and health services; fear and denial and low self esteem. 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
  

 

 
 
 Figure 1 Dahlgren and Whitehead (1991) 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 6 

Dartford Borough Health Overview 2015 
 
Dartford, with a population of approx. 101,000, presents a varied picture with regards to health when compared to the England average.  
Around 5% of our population is among the most deprived quintile (20%) in England, and around 25% among the most deprived two quintiles (40%) 
in England. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 2 Deprivation quintiles in Dartford 2010 from  PHE Health Profile 2015 
 
 
  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 7 

Dartford has a higher percentage of under- 9 year olds other than the Kent profile but a considerably smaller proportion of those aged 55 plus. 
The largest section of the population in Dartford is aged between 25-34 years of age. 
 
Population projections from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) show a rise in all age groups over the next five years with the largest 
percentage rises occurring in the 85+ age group (32.36%) for 2019. The overall population projected increase for Dartford for 2019 is 8.99%. 
This would result in the size of the population being 107,833.505 approximately (based on projections).  
 
Commissioners of all public services will need to take into account that planning will be necessary for an increased capacity for older people’s and 
children’s health services. Older people have the greatest need to use health services and it may be necessary to expand the capacity of certain 
health services where there will be the greatest population increases. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 8 

From the 2015 Dartford Borough Health Profile we know that we are roughly the same as the England average on: 
   

• Under 18s conception 
• Smoking prevalence in adults 
• The proportion of our adult population who is overweight, obese or physically active 
• Hospital stays for alcohol related harm, although this was previously better than the England average and so marks a significant deterioration 
• Levels of diabetes and TB 
• Hip fractures and excess winter deaths  
• Male life expectancy 
• Infant mortality 
• Premature mortality for cancer, cardiovascular and respiratory diseases 
• Numbers of people killed or seriously injured on the roads  

 
However, we perform significantly worse than the England average on: 
 

• Violent crime, and this has deteriorated from being similar to the England average in 2012, and therefore shows a marked deterioration 
• Obesity in children in Year 6 

• Female life expectancy 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

On the left, the figure shows 
underlying cause of death in 
Dartford Borough, all ages, 2014 

 
 
 

On the right the figure shows 
underlying cause of death in 

Dartford Borough in the under 
75s, 2014 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 10 

Health Inequalities in Dartford Borough 
The calculation of life expectancy at birth is a national measurement used to assess the differences between more affluent and deprived 
population.  
 
The PHE Health Profiles divide the population into deciles by deprivation. The 2012 profile showed the least deprived men could expect to live 
7.9 years longer than the most deprived. For women, the gap was 4 years. In the 2015 profile the gap is 7.6 for men and 8.3 for women. This 
suggests that while the life expectancy gap for men has been slightly reduced in the last three years, the gap for women has increased 
substantially, more than doubling.  
 
The Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory have examined life expectancy in Dartford by ward. The life expectancies were calculated 
using five years-worth of mortality data (2010-2014). 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Figure 3 Life expectancy in Dartford 2010-14 
 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 11 

 
The ward with the highest life expectancy is Joydens Wood (84.9 years). This is 7.4 years more than the lowest life expectancy which is Brent 
(77.5). 
 
“All Age All Cause Mortality” (AAACM) is the accepted measure of the overall health status of communities. Figure four below shows that 
overall, AAACM in Dartford Borough is higher than that for Kent and England – this suggests health is worse in Dartford. However, AAACM is 
reducing in our district, a sign that health overall is improving, although it is still worse than the Kent and England rate. 
 
By showing mortality rates charted to deprivation we can demonstrate the overall mortality gap between the richest and poorest in Dartford 
Borough. From figure five we can see that the inequalities gap in AAACM in Dartford has varied considerably over the last few years and is 
currently at a similar point to 2006. However, in the intervening years it has reached much higher levels and is a cause for concern. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Figure 5 Inequalities in AAACM  in Dartford Borough  Figure 4 AAACM in Dartford Borough  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 12 

What this Plan will do to tackle Health Inequalities  in Dartford Borough 
 

We aim to reduce health inequalities in this District by reducing the gap in health status between our richest and poorest communities, through 
effective partnership working with key agencies, the voluntary sector and local residents.  

 
Most importantly we will improve health and wellbeing for everyone in Dartford Borough but we will aim to “improve the health of the poorest 
fastest” so that more people will live longer in better health and the difference in life expectancy within and between communities will reduce 
further. 

 
This action plan will be delivered and monitored by the Dartford Health Inequalities Group which is a sub-group of the locality Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and contributes to delivering the key priorities identified in the Dartford Corporate Plan.  It will also contribute to the wider 
Kent ‘Mind the Gap’ Health Inequalities Action Plan. 
 
Reducing inequalities will yield tangible results for individuals, families and communities. For example, each teenage pregnancy avoided will 
save a total of £400,000 in extra costs to the taxpayer in health, benefits, tax from earnings and lost productivity. On average every smoker who 
quits will save over £2,000 pa.  Every pound invested in tobacco control and smoking cessation will save £11 in health, social care and related 
costs. 
 

Who Will Do What  
 
This Action Plan provides a framework and tools to identify, analyse and evaluate actions that can contribute to reducing health inequalities in 
Dartford Borough.  This Action Plan uses the Marmot principles to reduce health inequalities and his recommended life course objectives, from 
birth to end of life, to improve people’s health throughout each stage of their life.  Within the Action Plan, each objective maps the priorities for 
this Borough, in line with the Kent priorities, and highlights those priorities that need additional work, through targeted interventions and 
partnership working.   

 
Each objective provides the evidence data to support the high priorities, whether this is because it is worse than the England or Kent average, 
or a gap in service provision has been identified. A detailed Action Plan sets out the actions that partners will deliver to achieve the health 
outcomes and highlights the higher priorities which will be monitored through the Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Group.  Other identified 
priorities will also be monitored to assess the direction of travel of each action to ensure this work continues to be delivered to make 
improvements. 
 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 13 

Borough’s Responsibility to Health 
 

Although the main responsibility for Public Health sits with the upper tier local authority i.e. Kent County Council, the public health reforms 
enhance the role of District and Borough Councils in improving health and wellbeing outcomes for local residents. From environmental 
services, housing and open spaces, to the provision of leisure facilities and supporting economic growth, district council services have a vital 
impact on the wider determinants of health, as well as a major role in health improvement and health protection, as shown in Figure 6. 

 
 

 
Source: District Councils’ Network – District Action on Public Health 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  

 

Figure 4 The role of District and Borough Councils  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 14 

Dartford Borough Council 
 
The Dartford Borough Corporate Plan 2013-2016 sets out Dartford Borough Council’s overall vision for the area, which is: 
To make Dartford “the place of quality and choice, a place where people choose to live, work and enjoy their leisure time”. 
The Corporate Plan delivers this vision through the following five themes: 
 

· Economic Development and Regeneration 
· Health and Well Being 
· Safer Communities 
· Environment and Sustainability 
· Housing and Stronger Communities 

The Health and Wellbeing theme includes commitments to: 
  

• Increase the opportunities for participating in sporting, cultural and leisure activities. 
• Reduce overall health inequalities in the Borough. 

 
Kent County Council 
 
Kent County Council has responsibilities for Public Health and for tackling the social determinants of health inequalities. However they 
recognise that this will only succeed if all District and Borough Councils and our key partners across each area are engaged and committed to 
reducing health inequalities in their areas. 

  
The objectives and priorities for the County are set by the Marmot review and the Kent Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and the 
priorities and actions within the Kent ‘Mind the Gap’ Health Inequalities Plan adjusted to meet the needs of local communities within each 
District.   

 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 established health and wellbeing boards as a forum where key leaders from the health and care system 
work together to improve the health and wellbeing of their local population and reduce health inequalities. Health and wellbeing board members 
collaborate to understand their local community's needs, agree priorities and encourage commissioners to work in a more joined-up way.  

 
The HWB is responsible for producing a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). JSNAs 
are assessments of current and future health and social care needs in a particular area alongside an identification of the assets the local 
community has to meet the identified need. The JHWS sets out how the needs will be met, in the context of identified priorities, as well as 
enabling the HWB to encourage integrated working between health, public health and social care commissioners. Both documents are to 
inform local authority and NHS commissioning plans. 

 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 15 

The Kent Health and Wellbeing Board in has established a series of sub-committees known as Local Health and Wellbeing Boards, co-
terminous with the Clinical Commissioning Groups. 

 
Each District Council has Member and Officer representation on the Local Health and Wellbeing Boards along with the CCG clinical and Officer 
leads, representatives of Public Health, relevant county services and Healthwatch.  The Boards focus on partnership working to deliver targeted 
commissioned services to meet population needs and will feed into the overarching Kent Health and Wellbeing Board.  Information will flow to 
and from the Kent level Health and Wellbeing Board and the local Boards. 
 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2014-17 (JHWS) 
 
The Kent wide Health and Wellbeing Strategy, utilising the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, seeks to achieve the following outcomes: 

 
• Every child has the best start in life 
• Effective prevention of ill health by people taking greater responsibility for their health and wellbeing 
• The quality of life for people with long term conditions is enhanced and they have access to good quality care and support 
• People with mental health issues are supported to ‘live well’ 
• People with dementia are assessed and treated earlier, and are supported to live well 
 

Four priorities were identified to achieve this: 
 
1. Tackle key health issues where Kent is performing worse than the England average 
2. Tackle health inequalities 
3. Tackle the gaps in provision 
4. Transform services to improve outcomes, patient experience and value for money 
 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, published by the Health and Wellbeing Board is here: 
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/12407/Joint-Health-and-Wellbeing-Strategy.pdf  
 
The JSNA can be found here: http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/jsna/ 
 

 
Clinical Commissioning Groups  (CCGs) 
 
As part of the new health commissioning arrangements, the NHS Commissioning Board and CCGs adopted a process that demonstrates what 
they have done to fulfill their health inequalities duties and partnership working.  Emphasis on reducing inequalities should be focused on 
delivering screening and prevention programmes including Health Checks, immunisations, early diagnosis and reducing the burden of long 
term conditions to the right populations - not just those that present themselves.   
 
Dartford Borough is covered by the Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley (DGS) CCG.  

 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 16 

The CCG has recently published five year plans setting out the actions they will take to improve health and reduce inequalities based on the 
outcomes set out in the JHWS above. In addition the CCG works towards the NHS nationally agreed outcomes: 

 
• Preventing people from dying prematurely  

• Enhancing quality of life for people with long term conditions  

• Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury  

• Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care  

• Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm  
 
Acute Services   
 
The NHS Outcome Framework defines and supports clinical outcomes, including the reduction of health inequalities for NHS commissioners, 
encouraging them to work in partnership with the public health system to improve health and wellbeing and reduce health inequalities, 
underpinned by NICE quality standards or other accredited evidence. In particular, the outcomes frameworks should be aligned, with further 
shared outcomes across the NHS and public health system.   
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 17 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PRIORITY FOR DARTFORD BOROUGH 2016/18: 
 

• Promoting a healthy weight for children 

 
 
 
 
 

  

 

1: Give every 
child the best 
start in life 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 18 

Objective 1:   Give every child the best start in life  
 
Delivered through Maternity Matters; Infant Feeding Action Plan; Dartford Teenage Pregnancy Action P lan , Early Intervention and 
Prevention Programme;  Healthy Child Programme; Healthy Schools;  Putting Children First- Safeguarding and Looked After Children’s 
Services Improvement and Development Plan;  Action plan for children’s emotional wellbeing and mental health; Children and Young 
People Plan; Troubled Families Strategy , Kent Integrated Adolescent Support Service (KIASS) - Dartford Action Plans, Dartford Corporate 
Plan, Dartford Health Action Team Action Plan, Dartford and Gravesham Healthy Weight Action Plan  
 
 

Local 
Priorities:  

 1.1 Increase the number of healthy 

births   

 1.2  Encourage access to health 
services for all  

 1.3 Promote Healthy Weight for 
Children  

Priority for Dartford Borough 
2016/18 

Actions:   1.1.1 Run campaigns and deliver 
initiatives to promote good 
health in pregnancy 

 1.2.1 Improve delivery of 
community based health 
services to increase access 
for those less likely to attend 
traditional settings 

 1.3.1 Support families to maintain a 
healthy weight 

 1.1.2 Ensure teenage mothers 
have additional support 

 1.2.2 Promote the appropriate use 
of local health services 

  

 1.3.2 Improve local healthy weight care 
pathways 

   1.3.3 Identify & use opportunities 
created by transfer of health 
visiting to local government 

 
 
 
 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Local 
Priorities:  

 1.4  Increase breast-feeding initiation rates at 6-8 
weeks through Children Centre targeted locations 

 1.5 Support parents so that they can raise emotionally 
and mentally healthy children and  increase 
Childhood immunisations in groups of children 
whom uptake is identified as being below average 

Actions:   1.4.1 Provide support to new mothers to increase the 
initiation and continuation of breast-feeding 

 1.5.1 Deliver targeted interventions to high need families to 
support their mental wellbeing 

 1.4.2 Create and promote a breast-feeding friendly 
environment 

 1.5.2 Identify and improve access to service for substance 
misusing parents 

  1.5.3 Support mother’s experiencing domestic abuse 
   1.5.4 Increase childhood immunisations among minority 

groups 
   1.5.5 Introduce new ways and different settings to promote 

take up of childhood immunisations 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 20 

Objective 1 Give every child the best start in life      
 
Priority 1.3 Promote Healthy Weight for Children 2 

 
 

Obesity tends to track into adulthood, so obese children are more likely to become obese adults.  There are stark inequalities in obesity rates 
between different socioeconomic groups: among children in reception and year 6, the prevalence of obesity in the 10% most deprived groups is 
approximately double that in the 10% least deprived nationally.  
  
From an economic perspective, predictions are for sharp rises in the cost to the taxpayer for treating obesity and related chronic illness.  The 
Foresight Report (2007) estimates that by 2050 the cost of treating co-morbidities in the UK will reach £250 million.   
  
There is an urgent need for action, the Chief Medical Officer’s Annual report 2012 Our Children Deserve Better: Prevention Pays; states that 
reducing obesity by just one percentage point among children and young people could lead to savings of £1 billion each year as children would 
be less likely to end up with long-term health problems needing NHS treatment.  There are opportunities as local government takes the lead for 
Health Visiting and child public health from October 2015 that the joint efforts of all public services can be mobilised to tackle obesity. 
 
Mounting evidence suggests that a critical period during which to prevent childhood obesity and its related consequences is before the age of 
five. The best thing we can do for children from 0-5 is create ways of life which continue to make obesity unlikely. Children who live in more 
deprived areas are more likely to be overweight and obese than those from the most affluent areas. Making what may seem like simple 
changes to daily habits (physical and nutritional) is sometimes simply too difficult given all the other difficulties many families have to confront. 
 
In Dartford Borough, 12-18% of reception year children are obese in Joyce Green, Littlebrook, Town, Princes, Swanscombe, Bean and Darenth 
wards. 
 
By Year 6, 28-46% of children are obese in Littlebrook, Swanscombe, and Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley. The overall obesity rate at Year 6 is the 
highest in Kent. 
 
It is important that we also monitor the rates of overweight children as this can also carry health risks and offers an opportunity to intervene 
before obesity is reached. The bar charts below show the overweight rates alongside obesity at reception and Year 6. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

                                            
2 Data and information taken from www.kmpho.nhs.uk JSNA and Health and Social Care Maps 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 21 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PRIORITY FOR DARTFORD BOROUGH 2016/18: 
 

• Support older people to live independently 

  

 
2. Enable All 
Children, Young 
People and Adults to 
Maximise Their 
Capabilities and 
Have Control Over 
Their Lives 
 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 23 

Objective 2:  Enable all children, young people and adults to 
maximise their capabilities and have control over their lives 

 

Local 
Priorities:  

 2.1 Narrow the gap in attendance 
and attainment for vulnerable 
young people particularly at 
GCSE level 

 

 2.2  Support older people to keep 
them safe, independent and 
living fulfilled lives  

        Priority for Dartford Borough   
2016/18 

    2.3  Reduce the risk taking 
behaviours of young people 

 

Actions:   2.1.1 Provide more timely support for 
children and young people with 
emotional health and wellbeing 
issues 
 
 

 2.2.1 Develop Dementia Friendly 
Communities, improve early 
diagnosis of dementia and 
provide services and activities 
to support sufferers and carers 

 2.3.1 Reduce teenage conceptions and 
improve sexual health outcomes 

 

  2.2.2 Support individuals to improve 
self-management of long term 
conditions 

 

 2.3.2 Identify strategies for specific 
cultural groups for risk taking 
behaviours 

  2.2.3 Deliver effective local services 
for falls, falls prevention and 
fractures 

 2.3.3 Creation and development of 
youth ‘Health Champions’ 

  2.2.4 Develop support projects and 
continue to promote services 
through Dartford’s Elder’s 
Forum 

 2.3.4 Provision of diversionary activities 
for young people to prevent risk 
taking behaviour   

  2.2.5 Improve provision of 
adaptations and equipment in 
the home to prevent accidents 

 2.3.5 Seek to further develop the Street 
Pastor project in the Town Centre. 

Delivery through – Dartford Corporate Plan,  DASCo Strategic Plan, Dartford Teenage Pregnancy Action Plan, Kent Integrated 
Adolescent Support Service Action Plans, Health Schools Enhancement Plans, Children and young people plan, Dartford and 
Gravesham Community Safety Plan, Falls Strategy, Active Lives Now 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 24 

and improve the quality of life 
of individuals and their carers 

  2.2.6 Support individuals with 
learning disabilities to access 
health services, leisure 
activities, and housing 

 2.3.6 Delivery of Healthy Schools 
Smoke Free Education Package 
to reduce take-up at 15 years 

  2.2.7 Continuation of Shopsafe ID 
Scheme to enable older, 
vulnerable and people with 
learning disabilities to visit 
Dartford's town centre and feel 
safe 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 25 

Objective 2 – Enable all children, young people and adults to maximise their capabilities and have control over their lives 3 
 
Priority 2.2 Support older people to live independently  
 
Population projections from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) show a rise in all age groups over the next five years with the largest 
percentage rises occurring in the 85+ age group (32.36%) for 2019. The overall population projected increase for Dartford for 2019 is 8.99%. 
This would result in the size of the population being 107,833.505 approximately (based on projections).  
 
There are 14,916 people aged 65 plus in Dartford. Joydens Wood and Longfield, New Barn and Southfleet have the highest number of people 
aged 65 plus. The wards with the fewest number of people aged 65 plus are Town, Joyce Green, Littlebrook, Castle and Greenhithe.  
 
Commissioners for all public services will need to take into account that planning will be necessary for an increased capacity for older people’s 
and children’s health services. Older people have the greatest need to use health services and it may be necessary to expand the capacity of 
certain health services where there will be the greatest population increases. 
 
This has implications for commissioners and those providing services because the 65+ age group use health services at a higher rate than 
others so more provision will be needed by health services in the area. 
 
Falls and Fractures 
Falls and fall related injuries are a common problem especially amongst people aged over 65, with the human cost of a fall involving distress, 
pain, injury, loss of confidence, loss of independence and mortality. Falling also affects the family members and carers of people who fall, 
costing the NHS more than £2.3 billion per year.4 Falls in older people are a significant public health challenge, placing a considerable burden 
on health and social services each year with the incidence increasing at about 2% per annum (DH 2009). Increased rates of falling and the 
severity of the consequences are associated with growing older and the rising rate of falls is expected to continue as the population ages.  
 
Hip fracture is the most serious injury related to falls in older people, and can lead to loss of mobility and loss of independence, forcing many to 
leave their homes and move into residential care. Mortality after hip fracture is high: around 30% after one year.  
 
Castle, Greenhithe, Town, Stone, Joyce Green, Princes and Bean and Darenth wards all have admissions rates for falls which are above the 
Dartford and Kent and Medway average. 
 
  

                                            
3 Data from Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps for Dartford www.kmpho.nhs.uk 
4 NICE 2013 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 26 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dementia is a triad of problems: memory loss, decline in some other aspect of cognition, and difficulties with activities of daily living. More 
formally, it is a syndrome (that is, a distinct pattern of symptoms and signs) that can be caused by many brain disorders, most of which 
progress gradually over several years. The symptoms of dementia occur in three groups: 
  

1. Cognitive dysfunction, resulting in problems with memory, language, attention, thinking, orientation, calculation, and problem-
solving. 
2. Psychiatric and behavioural problems, such as changes in personality, emotional control, social behaviour, depression, agitation, 
hallucinations, and delusions. 
3. Difficulties with activities of daily living, such as driving, shopping, eating, and dressing 

 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 27 

Dementia can be very distressing for the person experiencing it and their friends and family. As the population ages, the prevalence of dementia is 
also likely to increase. Forecasts show that in the period of 2015-2019, we will see a rise in all age groups over the next five years with the largest 
percentage rises occurring in the 85+ age group where the population is predicted to increase by just over 32%. 
 
While we may not be able to address the increase in dementia directly, we can strive to develop dementia friendly communities and ensure that 
everyone experiencing or caring for someone with dementia has access to support and advice.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
   



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 28 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PRIORITY FOR DARTFORD BOROUGH 2016/18: 
 

• Support businesses to have healthy workplaces  

 

3. Create fair 
employment & 
good work for 
all 
 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 29 

Objective 3:  Create fair employment & good work for all 
 

Delivery through: Economic Development Strategy; Backing Kent Businesses; 14-24 Strategy; Employability Strategy  

 

Local 
Priorities:  

 3.1 Improve chances of 
employment for people 
facing disadvantage 

 3.2 Increase proportion of young 
people (16-18) & 18-24) in 
fulltime education, 
employment or training  

 3.3 Support businesses to have 
healthy workplaces 

Priority for Dartford Borough 2016/18  

    3.1.1 Provide support and training 
to improve employability 
based on outcomes of skills 
screening tools 

 

 3.2.1 Support young people to 
access services to help them 
into education, employment, 
or training 

 

 3.3.1 Support Kent Healthy Businesses 
Award Increase the number of 
local businesses and big 
employers providing a healthy 
workplace initiative 

  3.1.2 Seek apprenticeships, work 
placements and 
employment opportunities 
with employers and training 
providers 

 3.2.2 Increase the number of people 
accessing apprenticeships 

 

 3.3.2 Reduce the smoking prevalence 
among routine and manual 
workers 

 

 
 

3.1.3 Improve promotion of free 
and affordable childcare 
provision to support parents 
back into work 

 

 
 
 
 
 

3.2.3 Bring employers and young 
people together to improve job 
prospects 

 

 3.3.3 Ensure businesses and 
workplaces are safe  

 

  3.1.4 Encourage the 
establishment and growth 
of businesses in the 
Borough to increase the 
choice of jobs 

 

 3.2.4 Encourage the use of local 
employment and training 
schemes in new development 

 

 

 
 
  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 30 

Objective 3: Create fair employment & good work for all 
 
Like many Kent districts, Dartford has seen reducing levels of unemployment over the last few years. The Health Profile 2015 suggest long 
term unemployment has reduced when compared to the 2012 profile, moving Dartford from being similar to the England average in 2012 to 
being significantly better than the England average in 2015. Because of these good and improving employment rates, it makes sense to work 
with local business to support employees in enjoying a healthy lifestyle, and to build on the strong link between good health and good work. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 31 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PRIORITY FOR DARTFORD BOROUGH 2016/18 
 

• Provide the right support at the right time including financial capacity support and 
inclusion   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

4: Ensure 
healthy 
standard of 
living for all  
 
 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 32 

Objective 4:  Ensure healthy standard of living for all  
 
Delivery through:  Delivery through Backing Kent People Programme; Children and Young People Plan, Kent’s Poverty Strategy  
 

Local 
Priorities:  

 4.1 Provide the right support at 
the right time including 
financial capacity support 
and inclusion   

Priority for Dartford Borough 
2016/18 

 4.2 Meet the housing needs of 
people living in the District 
including affordable and 
appropriate housing 

 

 4.3 Promote opportunities to 
support families in poverty 

Actions:   4.1.1 Improve outcomes for families 
identified through the troubled 
families programme 

 4.2.1. Develop 76 new council 
homes for rent over the next 3 
years 

 

 4.3.1  Work with Citizens Advice 
Bureau to improve its capacity to 
offer advice to those in need 

 4.1.2 Promote sources of information 
where advice about benefits 
and financial support can be 
accessed and signpost to 
relevant services 

 4.2.2 Develop  and implement a 
private sector renewal strategy 
in 2016 following completion 
of a private sector stock 
condition survey 

 

 4.3.2 Support the deliver of Foodbanks 
in targeted areas of need 

 4.1.3 Provide information and 
signpost initiatives and support 
available for older people who 
maybe struggling to heat their 
home 

 

 
 
 
 

4.2.3. Enable the provision of new 
affordable homes in 
partnership with housing 
associations that meet 
housing need 

 

 4.3.3 Provide a range of free events 
and activities that can be enjoyed 
by all families, irrespective of 
income  

 
 

 4.1.4 Provide financial advice and 
training on how to best 
manage debts and household 
budgets, for example under 
the HERO (Housing, Energy 
and Retraining Options) 
project 

 4.2.4. Seek 30% affordable housing 
on new developments over 15 
units or over ½ hectare.  Seek 
50% affordable housing on 
rural developments of 2 units 
or more 

 

 4.3.4 Offer discount schemes at 
Council provided sports and 
leisure facilities for  those on low 
incomes  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 33 

Objective 4: Ensure healthy standard of living for all 5  

 
Dartford is similar to all local authorities and highlights health inequalities in that there is a gap in life expectancy between the affluent and those 
living in relative deprivation. There is generally an association between life expectancy at birth and deprivation. Life expectancy at birth for 
Dartford overall is estimated to be 80.5 years. However, in some wards such as Joyce Green it is considerable lower, at 77.7. 
By supporting people to achieve financial security we can help to reduce this gap 
 
 
 

 
 
 

                                            
5 Data from Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps for Dartford www.kmpho.nhs.uk 

Priority 4.2 Provide the right support at the right time includin g financial capacity support and inclusion   



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 34 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PRIORITY FOR DARTFORD BOROUGH 2016/18 
 

• Develop our communities to be healthy places  

 
 
 

5. Create and 
Develop Healthy 
and Sustainable 
Places & 
Communities   
 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 35 

Objective 5:  Create and develop healthy and sustainable 
places and communities  

Delivery through:  Dartford Corporate Plan, Dartford Housing Strategy, Dartford Homelessness Strategy, Dartford Core Strategy (part 
of Local Development Framework ,Local Air Quality Management Review and Assessment Reports, Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Plan, Dartford Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan   
 
 

Local 
Priorities:  

 5.1 Reduce Fuel Poverty 
by supporting 
development of warm 
homes  

 

 5.2 Reduce homelessness 
and is negative impact 
for those living in 
temporary 
accommodation 

 5.3  Develop our 
communities to be 
healthy places 

Priority for Dartford 
Borough 2016/18  

 5.4 Sustain and 
support safe 
communities  

      

Actions:   5.1.1 Work in partnership to 
advise, educate and 
promote energy 
efficiency schemes, 
grants and discounts 
to residents 

 

 5.2.1 Work to prevent 
homelessness in the 
Borough 

 5.3.1 Provide and 
promote 
opportunities for 
sport, leisure and 
active recreation 

 5.4.1 Ensure road safety 
is promoted within 
the borough and 
introduce ‘Safety 
Car’ enforcement 
of parking 
restrictions around 
schools 

 5.1.2 Develop and use 
systems that enable 
the targeting of 
measures to support 
vulnerable residents 

 

 5.2.2 Secure the 
satisfactory provision 
of support for people 
in the district who are 
or may become 
homeless or who 
have been homeless 
and need support to 
prevent them 
becoming homeless 
again. 

 5.3.2 Improve and 
minimise the 
effects of poor air 
quality on 
vulnerable groups  

 

 5.4.2 Deliver and support 
projects, initiatives 
and schemes 
through Dartford’s 
Community Safety 
Unit and Kent 
Police to ensure 
Dartford is a safe 
place to live 

    5.3.3 Develop parks, 
green spaces, and 

 5.4.3 Work in partnership 
through the 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 36 

public rights of 
way  

Domestic Abuse 
Forum to raise 
awareness of 
domestic abuse, 
support victims, 
and deliver 
programmes and 
initiatives to 
challenge 
perpetrator 
behaviour and 
reduce repeat 
incidences  

   5.3.4 Reduce the impact 
of poor housing 
and noise pollution 
on health 

 

   5.3.5 Ensure 
development in the 
borough provides 
a good quality of 
life and creates the 
conditions for 
communities to 
flourish. 

 

        5.4.4 Work with Kent Fire 
and Rescue to 
targets vulnerable 
households to 
reduce the risk of 
fire 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 37 

Source: Kent JSNA Sustainability Chapter 2013-14 

Objective 5: Create and Develop Healthy and Sustainable Places & Communities 6 
 
Priority 5.3   Develop our communities to be healthy places 
 

Air Quality 
Dartford is closer to Greater London than most of the other Kent Boroughs and is relatively built-up, with many busy roads which can create  
poor air quality which is a significant public health issue.  Dartford’s position between London and the continent brings health challenges 
associated with its unique pollution profile.  As a gateway to the continent it has extensive transport networks carrying a disporportionate 
number of HGVs, with their associated diesel emissions.  It has been estimated that in 2008 poor air quality causes up to 29,000 deaths per 
year nationally and probably causes more mortality and morbidity than passive smoking, road traffic accidents or obesity.7  It has been 
estimated that removing all fine particulate air pollution would have a bigger impact on life expectancy in England than eliminating passive 
smoking or road traffic accidents8. The economic cost from the impacts of air pollution in the UK is estimated at £9-19 billion every year. This is 
comparable to the economic cost of obesity (over £10 billion). 
 

In 2013 an estimate of 1,050 early deaths were as a result of of PM2.5 air pollition across Kent & Medway9.  Based on population size the chart 
below shows the estimated number of deaths per 100,000 population attributed to particulate matter: 
 

                                            
6 Data from Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps for Dartford www.kmpho.nhs.uk 
7 The Mortality Effects of Long-Term Exposure to Particulate Air Pollution in the United Kingdom. (2010) 
8 Comparing estimated risks for air pollution with risks for other health effects, Miller and Hurley, IOM (2006) 
9 Kent and Meday Air Quality Montiroing Network Annual Report (2014) 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 38 

Air Quality Monitoring 
 

Dartford Borough Council maintains a large network of air quality monitoring across the Borough to fulfil the requirements of the Local Air Quality 
Management (LAQM) process.  Monitoring results for 2014 have in general shown an increase in recorded levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2).   
 
Dartford suffers from significant congestion, especially on the A282 Dartford Tunnel Approach Road, A2 Bean Interchange for Bluewater and main 
approach roads into Dartford town centre. Four Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) have been declared along these roads where exceedences 
of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and Particular Matter (PM10) objectives were predicted.  Other major roads where the main source of air pollution occurs 
from road traffic emissions include M25, A282, A2, A226, A296 and A206. Other pollution sources in the Borough include commercial, industrial 
and domestic sources, which can also make a contribution to background pollution concentrations.  
 
This Council has a network of diffusion tubes across the borough monitoring at 50 locations. In 2014, diffusion tube monitoring at over 30 sites 
exceeded the annual mean objective level, of which eight are outside of existing Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA’s). The vast majority of 
sites have recorded an upward trend in annual mean levels in comparison to the previous year’s results. 
 

Annual mean NO2 at diffusion tube sites in Dartford, 2014 10 

 
 
                                            
10 Note: Data capture at Dartford Bean Interchange was low during 2014, so limited data is available for comparison. 

Source: Kent & Medway Air Quality Monitoring Network Annual Report 2014 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 39 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

PRIORITY FOR DARTFORD BOROUGH 2016/18 
 

• Reduce the gap in health inequalities across the social gradient 

 
 

Many of the key health 
behaviours significant to the 
development of chronic 
disease follow the social 
gradient: smoking, obesity, 
lack of physical activity, 
unhealthy nutrition. 
(Marmot Review 2010) 

6. Strengthen the 
role and impact 
of ill health 
prevention  
 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 40 

 
Objective 6: Strengthen the role and impact of ill health 

prevention 
 

Delivery through: NHS Future Forum;QIPP; Live it Well; No Health Without Mental Health; Tobacco Control Plan; Healthy Weight Strategy; 
Kent Sport Framework; Alcohol Plan, Dartford Corporate Plan , Dartford Health Action Team Action   

 
 

Local 
Priorities: 

 6.1 Improve access to 
screening  

 

 6.2 Reduce the gap in 
health inequalities 
across the social 
gradient  

        Priority for Dartford 
Borough 2016/18 

 6.3 Provide support for 
people with mental 
illness and raise 
awareness of mental 
health issues 

 6.4 Grow participants and 
partnerships to find 
new ways to target 
and deliver services 

Actions:   6.1.1 Deliver targeted 
screening to 
communities unlikely to 
attend a GP surgery to 
ensure early screening 
and diagnosis  

 

 6.2.1 Focus on improving 
the health of those 
at the bottom of the 
social gradient 
fastest 

 

 6.3.1 Support vulnerable 
groups manage long 
term mental health 
conditions 

 

 6.4.1 Development of DGS 
Health and Wellbeing 
Board to work together 
to understand the health 
inequalities issues in our 
communities and how 
best to support them 
with available resources 

 
  6.2.2 Reduce smoking 

prevalence 
particularly in areas 
or among groups 
with of high 
prevalence 

 6.3.2 Promote mental 
health support 
services in the 
borough 

 

 6.4. 2 Use existing 
opportunities in the 
borough to deliver 
innovative projects and 
services to promote 
good health in 
alternative settings 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 41 

 
 
 
 
 

  6.2.3 Deliver services 
and promote the 
benefits of a healthy 
diet and active 
lifestyle to reduce 
obesity and related 
co-morbidities 

 

 6.3.3 Deliver a range of 
activities and training 
to increase 
awareness and 
improve mental 
health and wellbeing 

 

  

  6.2.4 Promote sensible 
drinking and ensure 
treatment services 
are accessible for all 

 

 6.3.4 Deliver the Mental 
Health Impact 
Assessment tool in 
key areas 

 

 
 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 42 

Objective 6:  Strengthen Ill Health Prevention 11 
 

Priority 6.2 Reduce the gap in health inequalities across the social gradient  
 
As we saw earlier, the inequalities gap for all age all cause mortality is stable in the long term following an increase and a recent decrease.  
 
When we look in more detail at specific conditions it appears that circulatory disease and cancer mortality inequalities gaps may account for the 
main proportion of the overall mortality inequalities gap. 
 
Taking steps to lead a healthy lifestyle can help to prevent some cancers, respiratory and circulatory diseases and therefore by focusing our 
efforts on the most deprived we should be able to reduce this gap. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

                                            
11 Data from Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps for Dartford www.kmpho.nhs.uk 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 43 

Diabetes is a chronic and progressive disease, which has an impact upon almost every aspect of life. Diabetes is the leading cause of 
blindness in people of working age in the UK. It affects infants, children, young people and adults of all ages, and is becoming more 
common. There are an estimated 2.35 million people with diabetes in England. This is predicted to grow to more than 2.5 million by 2010 - 9% 
of which will be due to an increase in obesity.  
 
Life expectancy is reduced by at least fifteen years for someone with Type 1 diabetes. In Type 2 diabetes, which is preventable in two thirds of 
people who have it, life expectancy is reduced by up to 10 years. It is estimated that around 90% of people with diabetes have Type 2 diabetes. 
  
Incidence and prevalence of diabetes is greater in areas of higher deprivations with mortality rates from diabetes higher in people from lower 
socio-economic groups. People from minority ethnic communities have up to a six times higher than average risk of developing diabetes.  
In Dartford, seven wards experience higher admissions rates for diabetes than the Dartford average and all bar six wards are higher than the 
Kent and Medway average. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 44 

Obesity: Obesity can contribute to a range of health conditions, such as heart disease, high blood pressure, diabetes, indigestion and some 
cancers. Adult and child obesity levels are becoming an increasing issue for the health service, as greater numbers of people put on extra 
weight, through poor diet or insufficient exercise. dult obesity is far more prevalent in socially disadvantaged groups.  
 
It is estimated that approximately 28% of the Kent population is obese (354,022).  In Dartford Borough, modelling suggests 25-35% of adults 
are obese. The Health Profiles suggest that almost 70% of adults in Dartford borough are overweight and 25% obese.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 45 

Smoking: Smoking is a major cause of 
lung cancer, cardiovascular disease and 
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 
(COPD) and contributes to many other 
cancers and conditions, such as asthma 
or high blood pressure. Smoking is linked 
to deprivation levels and we can see from 
the chart that smoking in the most 
deprived groups in Dartford Borough 
reaches almost 35% while in the least 
deprived it is just over 15%.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Alcohol Misuse : The impact of alcohol 
misuse is widespread; it encompasses 
alcohol related illness and injuries as well 
as significant social impacts including 
crime and violence, teenage pregnancy, 
loss of workplace productivity and 
homelessness. Health inequalities are 
clearly evident as a result of alcohol-
related harm; national data indicates that 
alcohol-related death rates are about 45% 
higher in areas of high deprivation.  
 
Models suggest that wards in the north of 
the borough are much more likely to binge 
drink. 
 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 46 

References  
 
Kent’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2013/14 and health and social care maps available at http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/   
 

• Campbell F.(ed)  2010. The Social determinants of health and the role of local government. Improvement and Development Agency. 
‘[Online]’ Available from http://www.idea.gov.uk/idk/aio/17778155 [accessed November 2011] 

• Department of Health. (2010) Health Profile 2010: Kent ‘[Online]’Available from 
http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=92221[accessed  February 2012] 

• Department of Health (2010) ‘Healthy Lives, Healthy People’‘[Online]’ Available from 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Aboutus/Features/DH_122253  [accessed  September 2011] 

• Department of Health (2010) Health Inequality National Support Team – ‘[Online]’ Available from 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publichealth/NationalSupportTeams/HealthInequalities/DH_108954 [accessed September 2011] 

• Friedli, L. (2009) Mental health, resilience and inequalities – a report  for WHO Europe and the Mental Health Foundation. 
London/Copenhagen: Mental Health Foundation and WHO Europe‘[Online]’ Available from 
http://www.euro.who.int/data/assets/pdf_file/0012/100821/E92227.pdf 

• Marmot M. (Chair). 2010. The Strategic Review of Health Inequalities: Fair Society, Healthy Lives. Strategic review of health inequalities 
in England post-2010. Published by The Marmot Review Team February 2010. 

• Kent County Council (2009) Health Inequality Strategy ‘ [Online]’ Available from 
http://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=13333&ISATT=1#search=%22health%20inequality%22 [accessed August 
2011] 

• National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2010) Using evidence on cost effectiveness, cost impact and return on investment 
to inform local commissioning. ‘[Online]’ Available from 
http://www.nice.org.uk/ourguidance/otherpublications/costimpactinvestmentreturn.jsp/ [accessed October 2011] 

• National MWIA Collaborative (England) 2011. Mental Well-being Impact Assessment –‘[Online]’ Available from 
http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=95836[accessed  October 2011] 

• NICE 2007 Behaviour change at population, community and individual level- http://guidance.nice.org.uk/PH6/Guidance/pdf/English 
• Kent County Council (2010) Bold Steps for Kent‘ [Online]’ Available from 

http://www.kent.gov.uk/your_council/priorities,_policies_and_plans/priorities_and_plans/bold_steps_for_kent.aspx 
• Kent Public Health (2008)KCC and NHS Public Health Annual Report 2008. ‘[Online]’ Available from 

http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/EasysiteWeb/getresource.axd?AssetID=86075&type=Full&servicetype=Attachment [accessed 1 February 
2011] 

• KMPHO and NHS (2009) Smoking in Kent: Deaths, disease and economic loss attributable to tobacco smoking‘[Online]’Available from 
http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/lifestyle-and-behaviour/smoking/ [accessed 18 February 2011] 

• Sexton J. Dr, Barlow J. 2010. Trends In Health Inequalities In Kent And Medway: Convergence And Divergence 1999-2010. Eastern 
and Coastal Kent PCT, NHS. (PDF) ‘[Online]’  Available at http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-inequalities/life-
expectancy/?assetdetesctl2264893=96348 [accessed 9 December 2010} 

• Sutaria S Dr.  Estimation of the burden of disease caused by air pollution across Kent and Medway Eastern and Coastal Kent Primary 
Care Trust 



 
Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Plan 2016/18 47 

 

Glossary:  
 
AQMA - Air Quality Management Area 
APHO - Association of Public Health Observatories 
ASB - Anti Social Behaviour 
C&YP - Children & Young People’s 
CAB - Citizens Advice Bureau 
CCG - Clinical Commissioning Group 
CDAP - Community Domestic Abuse Programme (Perpetrators) 
CSU - Community Safety Unit 
DAVSS - Domestic Abuse Volunteer Support Service 
DGS - Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley 
GP - General Practitioner  
HAT - Health Action Team 
HIA - Health Improvement Agency 
HINST - Department of Health Inequalities National Support Team 
ISVA  - Independent Sexual Violence Advisors 
KCC - Kent County Council 
KCHT - Kent Community Health Trust 
KIASS - Kent Integrated Adolescent Support Service 
KMPHO  - Kent & Medway Public Health Observatory 
LAQM - Local Air Quality Management  
LIG  - Local Implementation Group 
MWIA - Mental Well-being Impact Assessment 
NHS - National Health Service 
NICE - National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence 
PACT - Partners and Communities Together 
PCSO - Police Community Support Officer 
PSHE - Personal, Social & Health Education 
SRE - Sex & Relationships Education 
VAWK - Voluntary Action Within Kent 
WK - West Kent 
YAP - Young Active Parents 

For Further Information please contact:  
 
Hayley Brooks 
Health & Communities Manager 
C/O Sevenoaks District Council 
Email: hayley.brooks@sevenoaks.gov.uk 
 





CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

STREET NAMING & NUMBERING – MILL POND SITE AND 
PARCELS 29 & 31 THE BRIDGE

Town, Joyce Green and Littlebrook

1. Summary

1.1 To approve four new road names for the development at the former GSK 
Mill Pond site.

1.2 To approve four new road names for the development of Parcels 29 & 
31 at The Bridge.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That Cabinet approve the new road names for the development at the 
former GSK Mill Pond as Augustin, Oldfield, William Mundy and James 
Smith.

2.2 That Cabinet approve the new road names for the development of 
Parcels 29 & 31 The Bridge as Henry, Hopkins, Jennings and Mitman.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 Former GSK Mill Pond

3.1.1. This is the site surrounding the existing Mill Pond which is part of the 
former GlaxoSmithKline land.  The proposed names are Military 
Personnel with strong links to the Borough.

3.1.2. The proposed names were submitted for consultation with a plan (as 
shown in Appendix A) to Members, Emergency Services, Royal Mail 
and the Developer on 9 November 2015.  The names comply with the 
Council’s policy on Street Naming.

3.1.3. Councillors Mrs Allen, Mrs Thurlow and Coleman are all in favour of the 
names as are the Police, Royal Mail and the Developers.

3.1.4. There were no other responses.

3.1.5. Suitable suffixes will be chosen once the final names and plans are 
agreed.

3.1.6. The Developer requires the names as soon as possible to ensure that 
the utilities are connected.

3.2 Parcels 29 & 31, The Bridge

3.2.1 This site comprises of two land parcels at The Bridge.  It borders Binnie 
Road and Marsh Street North. The whole Bridge development currently 
comprises of 48 new roads.



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

3.2.2 The proposed names were submitted for consultation with a plan 
(shown in Appendix B) to Cabinet and Ward Members, Emergency 
Services, Royal Mail and the Developer on November 19th, 24th and 
30th 2015.  There were three consultations as two names, Spilman and 
Wade, were changed after the first consultation due to very similar 
names in the same postcode area. The second proposed names relate 
to Bridges linked to existing roads in the area, Hungerford & 
Teddington.  There were several reservations about these during the 
consultation so a further two names, Hopkins and Mitman, were 
proposed by a Council Officer.  The names comply with the Council’s 
policy on Street Naming.  

3.2.3 Councillors Coleman, Mrs Thurlow, Shippam and Tom Maddison were 
happy with the first names though Councillor Shippam did mention 
there was not much ward relevance. The Police and Royal Mail were 
also happy with the names.

3.2.4 Councillor Mrs Allen pointed out the similarities to two existing names, 
Spielman and Waid.  Two new names were proposed at this point.

3.2.5 Councillor Mrs Allen was happy with the second proposed names. The 
Police and Royal Mail were also happy with the names.

3.2.6 Councillors Coleman, Mrs Thurlow, Kite and Tom Maddison would 
have liked more local linked names.  Councillor Shippam mentioned 
the possible link to the tragedy in the town of Hungerford in 1987.  Two 
new names were proposed at this point.

3.2.7 Councillors Coleman, Mrs Thurlow, Tom Maddison, Mrs Allen, 
Shippam and Kite were all happy with Hopkins & Mitman. The 
Developer and Royal Mail were also happy with them.

3.2.8 There were no other responses.

3.2.9 Suitable suffixes will be chosen once the final names and plans are 
agreed.

3.2.10 The Developer requires the names as soon as possible to ensure that 
the utilities are connected.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments*

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications It is open to the developer to object in the 
Magistrates’ Court to a street naming.  If the 
developer’s suggested names are in accord with 
Council Policy, it is likely that the Magistrates will 



CABINET
21 JANUARY 2016

rule in favour of the developer.

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Map showing proposed site – Mill Pond Site 
Appendix B – Map showing proposed road layout – Parcels 29 & 31 The 

Bridge

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Street Naming & Numbering 
Guidance

Dec 2013 Samantha Eastwood
(01322) 343425

Property 
Information
(Internal 
Services)

N/A





Works

Dartford Station
Signal Box

Warehouses

3.7m

4.4m
5.4m

8.8m

5.0m

3.9m

3.5m

5.95m

Un
d

CR

Pond

Pumping Station

Depot

Garage

PH

Railway Hotel

Car Park

BM 4.08m

BM
 4.2

0m

BM 5.79m

BM 5.56m

ED
 an

d W
ard

 Bd
y

CENTRAL ROAD

Ward Bdy

HYT
HE S

TR
EE

T

MILL POND ROAD
APPROACH

Sluices

12

104

Posts

14
3

10
6

13
9

14
1

11
8 t

o 1
28

11

3

1

to

21
Shelter

Weir

Tanks

Sluice

Foot Bridge

SL

Signal Light

Post

TCBs

El Sub Sta

Tank

MP 17.25
FB

PL

Foot Bridge

Works

FB

Works

Garage

FB

3.7m

Works

Signal Light

Weir

CENTRAL ROAD

Works

Works

Tanks

Signal Light

C:
\U

se
rs\

se
as

tw
oo

d\D
es

kto
p\M

ap
 Te

mp
lat

es
\PI

_M
ap

pin
g_

A4
_L

an
d_

da
te.

mx
d

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 B

y: 
se

as
tw

oo
d O

n: 
09

/11
/20

15
 12

:51
 P

M

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2015
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2015

@ A4
°1:1,631Mill Pond Development

Appendix A





ETL
2.9m

3.6m

BM 2.90m

WB

1

MA
RS

H 
ST

RE
ET

Lake

4.3m

@ A4° 1:1,817

H:
\M

ap
s &

 P
lan

s\M
ap

s b
efo

re 
PD

F'i
ng

\Th
e_

Br
idg

e_
29

&3
1.m

xd

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2014
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2014

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 B

y: 
se

as
tw

oo
d O

n: 
18

/11
/20

15
 09

:27
 A

M

The Bridge Parcels 29 & 31
Consultation
Appendix B








	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 3 December 2015
	7 Review of Local Air Quality Management - Changes to Guidance and Reporting
	Air Quality APPENDIX A
	Air Quality APPENDIX B
	Air Quality APPENDIX C

	8 Consultation on Proposed Changes to National Planning Policy
	National Planning Policy Consultation APPENDIX A
	National Planning Policy Consultation APPENDIX B

	9 Consultation on River Crossings in East London
	East London Thames Crossing APPENDIX A

	10 Parking Consultation: Heath, Stone and Town Wards
	11 Management of Double Parking and Parking at Dropped Kerbs
	Double Parking and Dropped Kerb Enforcement APPENDIX A

	12 Health Inequalities Action Plan 2016 - 2018
	Health Inequalities APPENDIX A

	13 Street Naming and Numbering - Mill Pond Site and Parcels 29 & 31 The Bridge
	Street Naming APPENDIX A
	Street Naming APPENDIX B

	A Stone Lodge - Injurious Affectation Claim and Consultancy Fees<br/>(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3)



